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FOREWORD

Part 5 of the “Story of the Australian People” is here presented.

For the benefit of those who have suggested that each part
should be complete in itself we have to stress the fact that this work
is a BOOK in process of publication and NOT a series of parts.
The complete book is kept in sight. It is impossible, therefore, to
make each part complete in itself. Nor is it possible, as others have
suggested, to place the notes in each part. We have to keep in
mind what the completed book will look like and the notes will
have to come at the end of each book. We are aware that, ds a
result, readers will have to wait often to look up notes and
references, but we feel that delay is preferable to having a choppy
book when it is completed and bound. We take this opportunity ro
thank 're.aa'ers who have sent in suggestions, criticisms and
appreciations.

The whole book is divided into Seven Books as follow: I
Prelude and Perspective; 11, Penal Settlement (1788-1823); IH’
Free Co{ony and Self-Government (1823-1856); IV, Demc:crac;!
«Iz;ala' Igdtlonaﬁsatim (1856-1885) ; V, End of an Age (1885-1901);

. Commonwedlth and War (1901:1919) ; VII .
4 by ): , The Latest Age

The book is being published in ten monthly parts which, when
completed, may be bound to form a volume of 800 pages. )

A list i
& gb:: ?ojr :rrata is to be found on the detachable page at the end

.~ Land, in 1820, was 29,407.

——

DIFFERENTIATION dal

The population of New South Wales, including Van Diemen’s
Of these, 5464 were in Van Diemen'’s
Land. Only 2021 had come out here free and 8368 were born here
__of the latter 6688 were twelve years old or under, Of those of
convict origin—19,018—there wera 12,039 still serving their sen-
tences and 1790 had tickets of leave. The remaining 5189 were
made up as follows: 3617 had served their sentences, 182 had par-
dons, 1170 had conditional pardons—and 220 did not attend the
muster, their status, therefore, not being determined.* It will be
seen from these figures that about two-thirds of the population
in 1820 had come out as convicts, that, of the remaining 10,000,
the overwhelming majority must have peen born of convict
parents and that, of the class known as emancipists, over three-
guarters had served their sentences, less than one-quarter only,
therefore, having been pardoned.

The population was rapidly differentiating into classes whose
lines of demarcation wWere quite distinct from that which divided
free from bond. There are indications, too, that dislike of the
taint of convictism was not the only barrier between the exclu-
sives and the emancipists. The former did not scorn the aid of
rich emancipists in deposing Bligh, while the Blaxlands, who
were free settlers, found no objections to prevent them from
being business pariners of Simeon Lord, an emancipist. Alex-
ander Riley gave a classification of the New gouth Wales com-
munity when he was giving evidence pefore the 1819 Committee
on Gaols.** Firstly, there were civil and military officers and
gentlemen—the latter including “gentlemen-settlers” and mer-
chants. Some “gentlemen-settlers” were interested in trade, and
most merchants had land—but the process of differentiation was
becoming apparent: the ex-officerf stuck to his land, leaving
trade to the merchants of Sydney, many, if not most, of whom
were emancipists. This differentiating Process became more
obvious during the next decade. Riley’s second class was that of
settlers, retail traders, and so on, who had come out free and
his third class people of the same callings who had been convicts,
But these two groups would, and did, tend to coalescef—with

—

* Coghlan, D. 417,
+# gummarised by Marion Phillips, pp. 9-11.

mp'e, commonplace men, physically
a strange jumble ef
motives—Db'ind loyalty to King, their regiment ot
ship—Dblind acceptance of the Church of England—mingled with l_ove"al
liguor, greed of gain and indifference to the usual tenets of morality."—

Marion Phillips, p. 10. .
+ They intermarried and were prone to be drawn close together by their
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the excepti .
class waﬁ L{l):a ?:(fn:r:'oste WOB beswens g anaoRRSEs. TS
worse off than ti icts and free lahorers—the latter often hei which the judge-advocat
he convicts with whose labor they had to cm?f Qate to &t 0 TSR
* indictments.”

pete.*

mecrll?s‘fhiitlg&r;wnts were, therefore, becoming clearer—a develo
g Memharﬂs us to place the Bligh episode in correct perspeﬁ-
B f:nd 1an_downer, whether bond or free no quea:
i ,Sucumhmed qgainst Bligh and then split. Settlems
e themf T%i(gteﬁitﬁh%geaﬁd Macquarie was instructed
ilgl;le;g;t; and investment in Newléi)rlffhseu?;i:;n;ﬁg (t:;llgltaim
ok le;r Dx;ei:»grtbgf Bigge, c_ame a reversal of British policgii
i i tﬁ ig pastoralists who, as we shall see, were to be
R e h‘; governmept of the Colony. What they deposed
o el _;m_w gained—the merchants had still some-
o e i is here we find the basis for an enduring
B o s o e v
J . : ; S e we
fgn:;i‘; ttiue]tt ;.Oglalx;nstd the rich er_nancipist merchan&r,mzj (:fhgllmi
aim—whether con?é;otsls;)yf c?;n 3;15‘131;1'1:2?05;11'1% I
S:Lno;::cgh and §elf-gnvemment. Lookinlé ;aéi t?r?m‘??r;mg v
e beginnings of that struggle in the time of rgd::f:

quarie. In later chapters we i
. clicly. watch its further development and

10.—GOVER

Bt it i roncin o e o

R in to repl i
Su;g:g gg;:cfa;e.thﬁe was a barrister and was sfoicfirgi:kifs ¥
e r the reform of the judicial system. In 181g he
e edest,abh§hment of trial by jury, the a;') oint 5
ge and the differentiation’ of the two kinds I;f d\i!;lir;tfd
or

economic ties than rent asunder b
y the conviet taint
. See Note 46 to this
this

Zhapter.
"Bee above, pp. 275-6.
#+ For example, Macarthur wo
. y uld have welcome
] o wnaeioos the Siion i 10 v Thik b e,
fore remmine, y urst, in June, 1813 iea A
g 8 tI!I.l; péb:w;'] for His Majesty’s G‘rowa-rnme'a(l}-1 tlz%.oncm g =
e e cl"fntmpolicy of this Colony to be so ézgncslider b
s sl b ety i e Rl e
onstruct it as ein
ﬁ:sé?};mu:&a; tﬁ thlg convicts for reformation of ;?agggumﬂ; e G
case, in every way entitled to the righ{scggfi‘deﬂvnts
privi-

wges of a citizen,
o, rr g n, who has never come under the sentence of transp
‘ or-

M a2

NO EMANCIPIST NERD ArfLx

he should not
had prepared

e was responsible, s0 that
t on cases in which he

In 1814, the new Charter of Justice was issued. It did not grant
trial by jury,” put created a Supreme Court, with a Chief Judge
and two magistrates, and a Governor’'s Court, in which the Judge-
Advocate would preside. The Criminal Court wWas to remain as
it was. Appeal could be made from both the Governor’s and
the Supreme Courts to the Governor. From the Supreme Court
there could be appeal to the Privy Council in cases involving
over £3000. The new Chief Judge was Jeffery Hart Bent, brother
of the Judge-Advocate. with both of the prothers, Macquarie
quarrelled, and both of them were recalled by the British gov-
ernment.® with the Judge-Advocate the quarrel was principally
over the appointment of emancipists as magistrates. The conflict
with J. H. Bent was concerned with the judge’s refusal to allow
emancipist lawyers to practise in the courts.

Before the arrival of Judge Benf, ex-conviet attorneys had
peen allowed to appear in the courts. At the first sitting of the
Supreme Court, on May 1, 1815, three emancipists applied for
permission to practise—-Edward Eagar, George Crossley and
George Chartres. Bent refused to allow them to appear, main-

taining that no convicted person could ever practise again in a
Court made

the Governor's

law court. The Judge—Advocate in
a similar decision.* Macquarie endeavored to persuade the Bents
without avail. The dis-

to allow the emancipists to appear, but
pute resulted in the holding up of law business until a decision
could be obtained from England. For two years all cases in
which more than £30 was involved Were suspended. Bathurst’s
decision, when it did come, was the recall of the two Bents.
But he made it clear that he did not disagree with the Bents’
opinions-but with their holding up of judicial proceedings. As
{or emancipist attorneys, however, the remonstrances of the
Judge and .Tudge—Advocate were “proper,” wrote Bathurst, “nor
am I disposed to sanction their employment in the colony under
any other circumstances than those which existed atb the time,
namely, there peing but one other attorney in the colony.”
However, Macquarie was not finished with his efforts on behalf

of the emancipists. »
Therd ha flicts between Governor and Judge-

d been CON
Advocate pefore the latter's prother arrived to reinforce him.

i
« Ellis died (10/11/'15), however,
Enﬂn:;d. »

pefore his recall was decided on in
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The i
se conflicts centred around their diverse attitudes toward BP0 e =

the em i :
ooy Zﬁgp;;zd ;:‘Irli::}l;tstwhgm Macquarie had appointed magi appo'mtec} in their stead, John Wylde as Judge-Advocate and
s S chasiee: ‘o is ta.ble'* @ But there were othe Barron Field as Chief Judge of the Supreme Court. Under these,
es: Bent’s objections to the small size of th for several years, the emancipist attorneys were not admitted
into the courts an

Court R i : .
oom, his failure to rise on the Governor’s entrance iny d eyen & Iren oL & v HERARE S pattmer of
' Crossley, was struck off the rolls for so doing.

glfl;l.g;t;h.b;l i{;ecfusm‘ to consider himself an officer to be ordere

e e fquan‘e, his decision to discontinue presiding o In his conflict with the Governor, Bent was able to, and did,

of magistrates (although the Judge-Advocate h harass him in many ways. All of the grounds on which his
4 actions were based were not frivolous ones, although he seems

done 80 since 1788), his disagreement with the Governor over thy
que'st'lon of the Port Regulations (which Macquarie waith to have heen actuated by vindictlveness. Nevertheless, he was
revisin able tq rally to his support many free colonists because he 00K

g but which Bent considered | i i
law**) . When Bent's brother (Whor;n Iv?g?:ﬁ::jew;lth Englisly ;s stand upon the law, drew attention to the autocratic power
mended as chief judge) arrived, he too, found mu hac; recqm- of the Governor and urged yigilance on behalf of individual
to: that he hadn’t been knighted t;efor('a he left E; 1 GdOb]ecJ liverty. He o oo 25 Ll Parramatta Roac, 3°
he wasn’t provided with a house to live in or a sahisfagct?:rrzl' ' thz:: fined, refused to Pa7 fhs Jine and 0 not use the roac oo
to administer justice in. But these were only Side-issuey COUEE,nd he challenged the authority of the Governor to 1evy taxes.*
pared with the long sustained struggle when the judge sefom', He incited Assistant-Chaplain Vale and a solicitor, W. H. MooT€,
and the Governor urged that emancipist lawyers be reco l}se: to seize, as @ lawful prize under the Navigation Act, the first
by the courts. The two magistrates it with Jud g]r:set American ship to enter Port Jackson since the war. Vale Was
Broughton and Riley, supported Macquarie and the ju dgeg:e f en& court-martialled put Macquarie Was not sure qf the legality of
to sit. The dead-lock continued for two years—“Bent, the ’E‘et his action and sought anlact of indemnity if he had‘ ac’_ced
Supreme Court Judge of Australia, never heard a ’case rfg illegally."* RLED, Macguarlm has 9"01?’?‘* arrested for chmbmg
delivered a judgment.” * I the wall into the Domaint instead of using the gates—and three
Th of them were flogged by his orders. One of the three was a free
ere was much popular support for the emancipist attorneys] man, another an emancipist, the other a convict. Here was
These enfiea"ﬂl'efi to organise a public meeting but Macquarie seeming evidence that New South Wales was 2 vast gaol with all
refused his permission. A long correspondence hetween the gov- in it prisoners and the Governor the head gaoler Who could flog
ernor and the Judge ensued, resulting only in exacerbating the whom he pleased.p Affidavits were taken from the yictims by
irritation of each with the other. On the death of Ellis Bent, Judge Bent, who put himself at the head of the popular indigna-
Macquarie appointed Frederick Garling, a solicitor who had been tion. Another action of Macquarie’s Was his refusal to allow an
sent out by the British government, as Judge-Advocate, and he officer of the 73rd (then relieved by the 48th), who had been
allowed the emancipist lawyers to practise in his court. Chief guilty of murder in 1813 put who had received very lenient treat-
Judge Bent averred that Garling had been bribed by the ment to land in Sydney, on his return in 1816. Bent took up
Governor! . this ;:ase, too.
In January, 1816, the government recalled the Bentsi and vale—or, rather, Bent—drew up 2 petition to
. Commonsi{ reciting all these grievances. Macquarie, to Bathurst,

the House of

R

+ Especially Simeon Lord and Andrew Thompson. There w i
s ere also D'Arc, ;

mﬁtv:g:tgrgﬁgpﬁg n&tmti‘:f: ;eg?:r‘gcbmﬂl ! &ho (il il i ‘319--5583.!Ir * Historical Records of Australia, VIIL, PP 4-30.

«« Bent objected to the Governor's power of 1e0' 1e ré, on; % Macquarie Was never <ure of the legality of his actions. He had no

to Macguarie, “that 1 am not presuming too mugx :I:gg:£ ixg(;lg:'“ h‘fl wrote | knowledge of the law and Bgnt._ h%? all rtphoielaw hooks!

T S & X undesirable pu 5. 1
confidence that it never could be intended that so vast a power sholﬁ!:b{,z 1 Eﬁaqn‘ﬁegit‘fxftds E&ral? rai: s wel‘?e surprised and alarmed; unti' that
placed in the hands of any one man without the smallest provision against en‘;et tlxe a g
mm’;eﬁﬁr o?hlﬁ:‘l acsirf:.tl;n:fm:gei': %013;?1:; Eeconceme(i_ and Emder :;c!;;n under the Government of General Macquarie: it was an unguarde
Governor of New gouth Wales above the Legislat bold to say sets the measure condemned and jamented by his best friends;

O at once resolves the ru'e of action into Leglslature of Great Britain, knowledge 1 conceive I hiave of Governor Maclgusglie 1 t;gnxnllz; m;(n;t;u tlxlig;
a will not subjected to any previous advice or control.” of the Governor, f] self have regretted \hat he gave the Order’— exander Riley 1
+ One, of course, was beyond recall.

p. 246).
++ See below, p. 330,
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characteri i iti

g :;zegftzlr?eisa lfce:;htu:‘n.mBathurst disagreed that petition

; 2 s could be regarded

ool ed as seditious

e }I;f;;llyupegraqts of land that were due tlmse1 ﬂz siM .
repudiated their signatures. In December gllggg

Macquarie offered hi i
1is resignati i
accepted until 1820.% gnation, which, however, was na

11.—POLITICAL STIRRIN i i .
the diarchy that had prevag:c.i i?ltt}l: A Bt
four Governors, nominally despots wﬁogglong de oS
and whose power was limited onl s i
= 3 v by the necessit i
atg ht: H?,ens::::et?) fil;ﬁ Z%ﬁr"lgrlines, public opinion agdoglzl;ghhf;
-t 1 ¢ rless and one of them foun i
ea?]t; ctlla ;;ifaNErlsoner‘ Not least of the antagonisn(lish;?st;]li
ool author't‘f South Wales was that between the militar
i it ities. Hunter complained of the hostility showxj;
- Bagrlle rest;y ctlowa\rd:-; the civil officers and magistrates® and
o spa;:d :11;6;?15 ;i‘;et;uGggse's Zrililitary regime, officers of
A noy them and i
c:(.') " :?;O;espﬁct of the lower orders.” ™ The comizog [clzefp:,l;iil?tlsglr
et ,Wv:rt t;) 1\:@5 also :fommanding officer of the regiment* he
st im to 'd_lsplace the N.S.W. Corps, removed th
_ ct between the civil and military authoritie i .
his autocracy absolute. b e
Both Hunter and King had felt the necessi
: ; ty o i
;:;;et,lthi’:; ::ikclzl;:hinttlclaey }S‘mﬂd rt;ly and which wo)\rndfdg:ru?k?eni
which military hostili
They called t,ngether frequent meetsirnggsgéltgh};agritﬁéiu Stlth.e e
1;:.::2“ and military officers to consider various problfris ctll:;llg
ueutengﬁl;d Hunter wwant.ed a civil, as opposed to a military,
g ﬁggvernor. Bligh, faced with a military Oppﬂsitiﬂf'l"
3 c the status of a rebel force, relied more on civil
ials, of whom was made the nucleus of an adviso! cw;l h'
with George Crossley, the convict attorney, as its le n{ coupcﬂ,_{
In the meantime, amongst the settlers, the d 'ga e
goverpment and ideas of democracy were Jnot ab g foz: o
of _thls we have seen on previous pages. Kin sgnt. ehlaciva,
E;la.med“ of the democratic tendencies of someg ’olfntmuﬁ, i,
A small number,” he wrote, “have discovered ok sl
disposition, which has been increased by two or t?hrt;: u‘}:%f g
o are

o
* The regiments stationed in N.SW. d
181d (1810-1814), 46th (1813-1817), 48th 509  MAoquiiey- segims SRR
i m‘.[:' t,mao:?twnf on the “Present State of His Majesty’

of New Holland, called New Soul S‘Settlements g
Records of NSW. VL, p. 146. h Wa'es,"—Historieal
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locked on by the rest as more enlightened than themselves, and
who are strongly tinctured with the democratic spirit of the
times before they left England.” The s“present discontents”
against which Pitt, Wilberforce and the Vice Society were using
all their resources in England were not absent from New South
Wales.
Reports such as these and the suggestion made that a council
be created to advise Macquarie Were hateful to the British
government, to which ideas of democracy were anathema and
to which Providence had youchsafed no intelligence to draw
lessons from the American revolt of thirty years before. There
were many suggestions for a council to assist, or curb, the Gov-
ernor—in addition to the popular demands for a share in the
government of the colony that we have already noticed. Some
of these suggestions Were made by wealthy settlers who hoped
to help form such a council. One such suggestion came, in 1809,
from John Blaxland, who did become 2 member of the Legisla-
tive Council when it was finally set up. A friend of Macquarie,
in May, 1809, outlined a scheme for a council—to consist of seven
members, comprising the Governor and LiButenant-Governor,
the Commander of the Naval Force of the station, the Colonial
Secretary, the Chief Judge and two pr'mcipal jnhabitants, the last
two to be chosen Or elected from among the magistrates.”“ A
select Ccommittee on Transportation was appointed by the HoOUSE
of Commons in 1812.% Among its recommendatians was one of
jnstituting a council to advise the Governor. To this both the
British govemment and Macquarie Were pitterly opposed. Lord
Bathurst listed the govemment‘s objections™: wghe difficulty of
selecting proper persons . . - : the dissensions and disputes to
which their opposition to the Governor, or their protest against
his conduct, must give rise; the parties which would then arise
in the Colony; - - - the danger of weakening the higher authori-
ties in a society composed of such discordant materials.” Replied
Macquarie, agreeing and rejoicing™: «1 feel great gatisfaction
SRR L from being an assistance, if unhappily tried, it would
in my opinion, most assuredly, be productive of all the evils and
inconveniences your lordship SO justly observes as likely to result
from it. I therefore indulge a fond hope that this measure Will
never be resorted to in this colony.” so spoke a true autoerat.
But the anti-democra.tic sentiments of a govemment and the
autocratic jdeas of a Governor could not prevent the growth,
either of demands for self-govemment or of community self-
help. f the Bene-

One example of the latter was the founding ©
volent gociety, at a public meeting held on June 6, 1818. The aim
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of the society was to look after the poor and it was controlleg
S5 e

by a General Committee i
, an i
e Acting Committee and five District

b . &
thea];ly ;1; 1!1319, two public meetings were held in Sydney, with
pemi;)p val of the Goyernor. Their object was to drf’w'u
o em];]’ a;ii to cﬂlect signatures, to be presented to thé Pri?lca'
th;g me.n % we petition, wl_1ich was signed by 1260 persons—-“afl
= Cﬂlo,n Hx:gte Macquar}e-, “of wealth, rank and intelligence in
o Y, 'sought political and economic gains. Firstly, the
tumonrilzrihc:eg;ﬁ;:l ref;:rm of the judicial system and the i,nsti
ny of trial by jury. Then, th i
tion was taken up with ic grl F - A
. economic grievances. The la
igrrelg?o markgt was holding back the expansion of agri(t::lli.litogrea:
market-reb ug:illxlle could be raised if growers were certain of z;.
: re were no foreign markets i i z
» in sight; therefo
al::i o:;y v:;ay Fo _consume surplns grain was to distill it into spirf::;
industrypwzml:;smn t,::; establish distilleries was asked; such an
uld provide employment and attract ital; i
also keep in the countr seoibap
S y the money then going o i
spirits; unemployment and sta i Sl e
gnation would result f
to allow distillation. The iti e sy
i s petition also protested i
restrictions on colonial shippi o n
pping and the virtual monopol
corded to the East India Com o ot ok
: pany.” It pointed out, too
f:z:ue] éaborers in New South Wales, who were becoming 'num'e;;;!;st
_— _proﬁta‘blyl be employed in the whaling industry if the:
- ssive dutle.s in En.gland on its products were reduced. Reduc-
a:o:; of excessive duties on wool, hides, bark for tanning, hemp
bg - :ial.z ezngo ogller] commodities from New South Wales ’shou].d
e level of duties on the same i
L ; goods imported
;rt(:T gther British colonies. The petitioners finally asked flrJJr the
1?1 ition of colonial duties levied in Sydney.
3 h?;; e\;rasst :;;diﬂt]y :Ee revolt of Australian traders carried to
an that which, in 1808
: _ 1 8 , urged some of the
tfl}l :::vkot%hglfnr}xﬁ.ncmatmn of colonial trade by means of the 0‘-'13:'1;l
s int,eregt s government. There was a united front of most
g :rerepresented among the signatories to the peti-
e emancipistsr: z‘r;a.de to allow no jarring note to creep info it
toralists, combinednmg::;::ﬁtg: d;rs, Ji i and e
e demands, alth
oy gty o P e e
sittin s. Rev. Marsden was opposed to an fets
g on juries. Others, including Macarth L
pebty furiss® ur, did not want

Before the petition could reach England, the trade grieva
nees

' began to hear about New South Wales.

" of the mother country,
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granted to start distilling. By
g1l ships without reference to
South
until

TO BE AN AUSTRALIAN WASHINGTON?

had been redressed and permission
Act of Parliament passed in 1819,
their tonnage” * were to be allowed to trade between New
Wales and England. The question of juries was left over
after the report of Commissioner Bigge.

12.—BIGGE'S REPORT.—Mr. John Thomas Bigge sailed from
England in April, 1819, with a Commission to inquire into the
state and administration of New South Wales. His appointment
was made as a result of the developments, conflicts and various
statements of grievances in New South wales and the vast
amount of interest aroused and discussion upon them in England
during the immediately preceding years. The war against Napo-
leon had ended in 1815. A new British Empire had taken shape
and was on the threshold of further expansion. In Europe,
reaction was triumphant. But, in the Mediterranean and in
South America, British commerce and investment were finding
common interests with national jndependence and self-deter-
mination of peoples and were already calling a new world into
existence to redress the balance of the old. New worlds had to
be called into existence to provide adequate spheres for the acti-
vities of British capitalists. To these New South Wales was
beginning to appear as something more than a penal settlement.
British capital was peginning to feel its magnetic pull. People
There was a vast differ-
ence between 1819 and ten years before. When Bligh was deposed,
few cared. Now everybody cared. Politicians—Tory and Whig,
government and opposition—were defining their attitudes and
making their demands. After thirty years of neglect New South
Wales had become 2a matter for serious attention and serious

decisions.

The two extreme's
they existed for the

of opinion about colonies Were: one, that
purpese of bringing wealth to the traders
and, two, that they were encumbranceés
to be rid of as soon as possible. The first had led to the revolt of
the American colonies. The second was voiced by, among
others, Jeremy Bentham. Another writer, Sydney Smith, won-
dered “what we are to do with this Colony when it comes to
years of discretion. Are We to spend another hundred millions
of money its strength, and to humble ourselves

in discovering 1
again before a fresh set of washingtons and Franklins? . . -

Endless blood and treasure will be exhausted to support a tax on

kangaroo skins; faithful Commons will go on yoting fresh sup-

plies to support a just and necessary war; and Newgate, then
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2;22?5 2;" q;nlarter of the world, will evince a heroism not un-
peop]ehd_""' he great characters by whom she was originally
Sir Samuel Romilly, concerned with the reform of Crimi
Law, _condet_n:ned the government in 1810 for “that Sé;rlmna,l
experiment in criminal jurisprudence and colonial polic as]tahan
of transportation to New South Wales should have be%a tri v
at_ad we should have suffered now twenty-four years tou e;;ed’
without examining or even inquiring into its success or failurep"’sfi
It was due to his efforts and those of others that the Commit-t
on Trapsportation to which reference has already been mal:;e
began its investigations in 1812. The governrﬁent was harg
pressed during these years: strong opposition to the renewal of
i};lizTTl‘;aqiﬁortation Laws in 1815 and 1816; efforts, in 1816 and
, by the opposition ip
- e A abglished_“" to have the Secretaryship for War and
_In 1817, the voice of the free settlers was heard for the first
time in the House of Commons, when a Memorial from some of
them, brought to England by the Rev. Benjamin Vale,” was pre-
sented. The introduction of this Memorial, together m,rith reports
of conflicts between Macquarie and the Exclusives, called atten-
tion to the fact that New South Wales was no longer a purel
penal settlement. Those who were demanding reform in Sydneg
had an ambassador in London in the person of W. C. Wentworth
son of D’Arcy Wentworth, and a native of New South Wales—,
one of its first sons. In 1819, he published his “Statistical, His-
torical and Political Description of New South Wales.” In'it he
demingedutriat.ll by jury and a Legislative Council. The govern-
ment fina ecided to send issi i i i
s chosen? a Commission of inquiry. Bigge
The Commission given to Bigge was all-embracing. It gave
him “full power and authority to examine into all the Laws
Regulations and Usages of the settlements in the said Terri-' i
tory and its Dependencies, and into every other matter or thing i
in any way connected with the administration of the Civil 3
Government, the superintendance and reform of the convicts
the state of the judicial, civil and ecclesiastical esta.blishments'
revenues, trade and internal resources thereof.”®™ It had beex;
noticed, Bathurst wrote to Bigge in his letter of instructions
that transportation was losing its dread and that even man’
ugentenced to imprisonment for minor transgressions” we ]
anxious to be sent to New South Wales. Bigge's first task ;:
therefore to be to find out “whether any and what alteratio Wi
the existing system of the Colony can render it available tonthl;
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purpose of its original institution,” that is a “receptacle for
offenders, in which crimes may be expiated at a distance from
home by punishments sufficiently severe to deter others from
commission of crimes.” Conditions for convicts in New South
Wales seemed now to be too good, wrote Bathurst. Once men
condemned to transportation asked for commutation of their sen-
tence to execution! Now men were anxious to go. It may be
that Bigge will have to seek other places to which to transport
convicts, because New South Wales has been «divested of all
salutory terror,” as 2 result © “jl1-considered compassion for
convicts.” In that case New South Wales would cease to be a
penal colony. Mr. Bigge was also to inquire into the conduct of
officials, the judicial administration, the local regulation of trade
and prices and the problem of the emancipists.

Bigge landed in Sydney on September 22, 1819, and was
received with full honors. He did not leave Sydney to return
to England until February 14, 1821. Four of the seventeen
months of his stay he spent in Van Diemen’s Land. On his
return to England he issued three reports,* the first one dealing
with the position of the convicts.

The abolition of transportation to New South Wales was not
to be entertained. The colony was to be the close Preserve
of the pastoralists who, by means of the rapidly growing wool
industry, would create great wealth for themselves and for
England. For them a plentiful supply of cheap labor was neces-
sary and the continuation of transportation would supply it
Convicts, advised Bigge, should not pe kept in Sydney ornament-
ing the city, but should be assigned to the pastoralists and agri-
culturalists. Those not needed for this purpose should be set to
work clearing the push and making roads. To prevent New
gouth Wales from losing its “salutory terror” he suggested the
establishment of other penal stations—gaols within a gaol—at
Moreton Bay, Port Bowen and Port Curtis and a tightening up
of the regulations governing emancipation. He supported the
demand for reduction of duties on wool, wood and bark for tan-
ning imported into England from New South wales. (These
reductions were afterwards effected by Act of Parliament.)

The second report dealt with the government of the colony and
its judicial system. Trial by jury was not to be instituted, the
office of Judge-Advocate was to be abolished and an Attorney-
General was to be appointed. Van Diemen’s Land should be
separated from New South Wales and be placed under a separate

S LA e
+ The first published in 1822, the others in 1823
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administrative and judicial system. Finally, Bigge advised the
creation of a Legislative Council, to be nominated by th.e Goy-
emo.r and to have control of the raising of finance and the
making of laws. The Chief Justice should be given the authority
to declare any colonial regulation or ordinance to be either in
harmony with or contrary to British law and to be effective
or null and void according to his declaration. In his third
report, Commissioner Bigge epitomised the demands that would
have been made by the rich pastoralists or British capitalist:s
who had already invested, or who might invest, money in New
South Wales. Manufacturing should be discouraged, land in
vast areas should be given to capitalist pastoralists—individuals
or companies—and the convicts should provide the cheap labor
that would create wealth for the few big wool growers and the
English wool manufacturers® Thus everything would work
together for good in this, the best of all possible worlds—Eng-
land’s convicts would be taken off England’s hands, a profitable
field for British investment be provided and an important raw
material for England’s factories be supplied.

Most of the suggestions of Bigge'’s reports were translated into
law by the N.S.W. Judicature Act of 1823. The Criminal Court
remained the same in character (one officer or magistrate being
added), but trial by jury was to be allowed in the Civil Court.
Trial by jury in criminal cases was not yet to be granted. A
Legislative Council of seven was to function.

It will be obvious that Bigge's Reports and the implementing of
their findings by legislation favored the big pastoralists at the
expense of the small settler, the town trader and manufacturer
and the convict. They marked a reversal of British policy which,
originally, had aimed at making New South Wales a colony of
small settlers to be drawn mainly from the ranks of convicts
whose sentences had expired or who had been emancipated. It
was against such a programme that the rebels—some of them—
had revolted in 1808 That part of the aims of the Macarthur
party was now achieved. The acceptance of Bigge's report com-
pleted, in one aspect, the revolution that began in 1808, Mac-
arthur and Blaxland were no longer rebels—they became mem-
pers of the new Legislative Council. British capital had now
linked hands with the Australian landed interests—Australian
pastoralists and the representatives of the British government
were thenceforth for many years to control New South Wales
But not without protest. {
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given in Mackaness—It is of im-
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and Spithead mutineers themselves,
while they Wwere in control of
their respective fleets, used the lash
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the evil effects of the rum traffic.
wiarmers are involved in debt, and
are either ruined by the high price
of spirits, or the high price of
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11.—In his letter to Atkins, Mac-
arthur referred him “to the naval
officer for what further informa-
tion you may require on the sub-
ject,"_Macathurs of Camden, DPP.
141-2.

12.—Macarthur’s land “belonged
to the church which was too much
confined.” — Bligh to Windham,
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New South Wales, vol. VI, p. 369.—
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dictive malice,” Wwas associated
with the “well-knOwn dismemhereg
limb of the law, George Crossley,
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\ o a.bbyd lki)gh. were soldiers y for himself , #3750 yir pp.  384-5. 05 44 —Historica! Records of Aus-
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&hle and the mysterious charges, up of the convi E’mh the summing pendices to BiZEE'S Report. urst, 28/6/1813, “and upon that

mch Macarthur said could have  scribed Jok t.olc versifier who de<lf 33—D'Arcy wentworth was not opinion I have acted ever since I
n  brought against him but headed fo }ns n as “that turnip- an emancipist, not having been & came to this Colony, that, once &

which, he said, Johnston suppressed, (Mitchell ol, Jack Bodice’s tool” « tried for  convict has become a free man,

were never voiced, Macarthur often 18.—+T Library Manuscripts). In  either by his servitude, free pardom,

' am sorry to report to

threatened to bring them to Ii i i iehway ©OF emancipation, he should in all
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order to create suspicions, We can- Home with the despatch T ouitted, At the fourth trial, DR fospect should in any case be
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" come a violent op- ;dg'e' “My Lord, Mr. wentworth, convicts to any situation of equality
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with themselves. But in my humble
opinion in coming to New South
Wales they should consider that
they are coming to a convict coun-
try, and if they are too proud or
too delicate in their feelings to as-
sociate with the population of the
country, they should consider it in
time and bend their course to some
other country, in which their pre-
judices in this respect would meet
with no opposition. No country in
the world perhaps has been so ad-
vantageous to adventurers as New
South Wa es. The free settlers, who
have come out as adventurers, have
never felt their dignity injured by
trading in every way with convicts,
even while they are such, . . . I
must, howeyer, in justice to the
original free settlers, observe that
1 believe they are not all of one
mind in this respect. Amongst
them, some few liberal minded per-
sons are to be found who do not
wish to keep those unfortunate per-
sons for ever in a state of degrada-
tion."—Historical Records of Aus-
tralia, VII, pp. T75-6.

47.—Historical Records of Aus-
tralia, VIIL, pp. 401-24,

48 —Phil'ips, p. 220.

49 —Historical Records of Aus-
tralia, VIIL

50.—Historical Records of N.S.W.,
Yol. TIT, p. B7.

51.—do, p. 171.

52.—do. pp. 528, 678.

53.—do., p. 647.

54 —do., Vol. VII, p. 230

55 —Historical Records of Aus-
tralia, Vol. VII, pp. 199-200.

56.—The Committee examined ex-
Governors Hunter and Bligh, Major
Johnston, Commissary Palmer, Rob-
ert Campbell, Rev. Johnston, Mat-
thew Flinders, Maurice Margarat,
three ex-convicts and others.

57.—letter to Macquarie, Histori-
cal Records of Australia, VII, Dp.
675.

58.—ILetter to Bathurst, do, Pp.

0.
59.—Phillips, p. 270.
60.—Macquarie to Bathurst,

22/3/1819, Historical Records of
Australia, X, p. 54.
61.—Particular reference was

made in the Petition to the “Act
of Parliament intituled An Act for
continuing in the East India Com-
pany for a further term the pos-
session of the British Territories in
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India, &c., being the 53r
Majesty, Cap. 155, by the :gn%tsi
tion of which, It is Enacted 'Tj
no ship or vessel, the registy
measurement whereof shall be §
than 350 tons, shall pass or sail
any of the Seas to the eastwy
of the Cape of Good Hope, or §
westward of the Streights of Mag
lan, without a license from f{
Board of Commissioners specia
authorising the same.’ "—Histori
Records of Australia, X, p. 60.
62.—Phillips, p. 278.
g {Sl%.—H;gtol'ical Records of Au
ralia, . L 198 de
Bathurst. " ha
64.—Quoted, Phillips, p. 297.
65 and 66 —Phil'ips, Chap. X
ﬁ'i".——Hlstorical Records of Au
tralia, IX, pp. 329-336.
68.—do., X, pp. 3 and 4.
69.—See a summing-up of fl
Reports in Phillips, Chap. X.
70.—Macarthur always designat
the small settlers as worthls
people.
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John Macarthur

Chapter IX

CAPITAL TAKES A HAND

They say it was a shocking sight
After the field was won;
For many thousand bodies here
Lay rotting in the sun:
But things like that, you know, must be

After a famous victory.
—Robert Scuthey.

l.-fBaring Bros. et al.; 2 —Beginnings of Wool; 3.—Macarthur's Wool in
Eng and; 4—Decline of British Wool; 5—Fight for the Market; 6.—The
nLand Companies; 7.—Mining Coal.

ITH the coming of the eighteen-twenties New South
% Wales ceased to be purely a penal settlement.” Local

men of money and land most emphatically maintained
the country was theirs and not the convicts’, bond or
B freed. British men of money were beginning to believe that in
the thirty-year-old colony there was scope for activity other
than the punishment and reformation of convicts. It began to
produce cheaply a necessary raw material—wool—and Commis-

dvising the formation of land companies, the

sioner Bigge was a
ranting of square miles of land, the investment of capital and

he employment of armies of convicts. A plentiful supply of
Jand and cheap labor was the magnet that began the drawing
of British capital into Australia. Wool it was that cemented the
interests of Australian landowners and British capitalists. The

MELBOURNE IN 1838 [cont.nent was to be their preserve.
1—BARING BROS. ET AL.—The wars against Napoleon came
to an end with a peace that came almost as near surpassing all
understanding as did that which broke out in 1919. Between
the two ‘“settlements” there are many parallelsdmexanrler's

1.—Notes foT this chapter are at the end of Book IIL
343
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: g BOTANY BAY WOOL 346
Holy Alliance and Wilson’s League of Nations, the lion's shy

of the spoils on both occasions to Britain, crusades for legi dividends in return for such tormls of invest.p‘lent as loans and
macy and against liberalism and nationalism after 1815 d developmeptal works. In Aus'tr_a.ha, the white population Was_a
crusades against Bolshevism and for—*“civilisation” in 1918, g i ?t i gl o dmc.lend.s L P _—
not least striking of the parallels were those in the econom aborigines who had gazed| for millenia on the bea':iEIES. of PorE
sphere: poverty, unemployment, deflation, new fields for iyl ._Iackson ha_ve been prevailed upon t_o pay for a L'udge across
ment of British capital. After 1815, the market 1 iho There 1s; howgver, one form of investment wh}ch c_ioes not
i ; : . s were glutfe need a country with a large or advanced population in order
Wlt?o;] Oml':;gen?;;*x }‘; otf so}llt_illeri;o fe;dﬁtagglcglture faced a efit  ,1ovide big profits for the investors—especially when a supply
-~ o et S €y Dght, but not after —8g of cheap labor is available. That form is the financing of the
g;?:;sea?ndigﬁmv:;gh;qigecaﬁnéﬁrzagfk rll;[;li; bgi‘lrlle ptilceble\.rel 1?‘1‘ production of certain of the raw materials of industry. And',
Sl B 80 1o 198 Tn 18151 Bwgland howive s O di in the first decades of the 19th century, both the demand for,
becoming industrialised and Ithe hosf o,f manuf;’ct‘:::?‘esrs1 al?;il. g«lﬁd tthe opporfumtly“i;g pro;lol;cet.he; l?i;}::)(;Eiiit;a‘z;;za;iﬂildgéoi:ey
N s . i at raw materia 5 Wi i C
e e R B ey B
~Nafidiny for themselves huge fortines upon the b merit supply of cheap labor and by a land whose Pkatent seeme E1 11_ .
retionalisation, cutting of costs and starvationpwgges eTho?sl:né table, and the demand arose from the conditions of the Englis

wool industry.'
of those who were no longer needed to fight England’s battl
were star_ving or being sent to New South Wales. Investor 2. THE BEGINNINGS OF WOOL.—In 1807, 245 1bs. of wool were
were ﬁndm_g the new wo_rld made safe from Napoleon the be exported from Australia. By 1821 that amount had increased to
of all pos_mble worlds with the area for profitable investmen 175.400 1bs. Another five years, and the million pound mark had
greatly .w1dened and a I_OWEFll.lg of prices that multiplied th bee,n passed. Another five years more and over two million pounds
purchas‘mg power of their dividends. were being sent away annually. In 1836, 3,693,241 1bs. were exported
Of this new world of investment Australia, for three or fou from New South Wales and 1,710,000 from Van Diemen’s Land.
decades, formed a very small portion. Immense gains wel These figures indicate at once the inevitability of the dominance
forthcoming from the process of financing the indemnity exactél of the pastoral industry in Australia, and, taken in conjunction
from Frat_nce and the cost of the Allied Army of Occupation! with the position of wool in England and Europe, the brightness
the flotation pf loans to former Allies, the calling of a neW of the lure that Australia was becoming for British capital®
world into existence to redress the balance of the old,** and  Of the sheep that were brought out in the First Fleet most
soon, the building of railways all over the world. A large and perished. Sickness, foot-rot and the dingoes, and the “rank grass
established population is a prerequisite to the churning out of under the trees” (according to Capfain Phillip) played havoc
S R Governor was report-
* The loan to finance France's indemnity was floated i ~ with them, so that, by September, 1788, the :
and Co., a firm that was originally interested in wool mg”hf?{;‘fernb“;féﬁ:’- ing that “one sheep only remains of upwards of seventy, which
ﬁnﬁnancial house, serving both sides during the Napoleonic wars! It was I purchased at the Cape of Good Hope on my 0wn and the
ked with financia' interests in Holland, America and France The con--‘? p i i taken better care of
tract to float the French loan, in 1817, “put them in possession of a 5 per Sovernment’s account.” Later arrivals were taken
cent. loan to produce 100,000,000 francs at a net price of about 53, on the and sheep began to thrive in New South Wales. Before Phillip
n;l‘ljnina.l valuest;t;h%hm %hej:! v:;re to receive a commi y ' ft in 1792, he gave two ewes to each settler. But the object
million ’frgés (and | pay 5 per o:nt 1nt:¥es?z‘;fr1nolgemun . if t-,hH:i in mi d if roviding for each settler the foundations of
A on, ad in mind,
?r f;cﬁslcl]i.-nl of 100 millions), whi'e Baring Bros. would recii%gdzfagn?ﬁ n % k def tef:])_ by the officers of the Corps, who, for rum
plus what they could sell French stock for at above 531  We latter = HODE, WS, L o8 4 all the sheep
day Australians must apologise that neither our fathers nor thei: plack —at five gallons per head—were able to buy up
predecessors could offer anything nearly so satisfac 8 ox cept those of one settler.
During the first five years of the Colony, most of the Sheeh
were of the hair-bearing variety. They had come from India oF

tory.
the Cape. From Calcutta came 30 of this breed in 1793. Amongst

panish co was a rm! factor i y ot
Ufttlgeir 1!;9613&‘1;11:!:110&{: l]I;‘Ingllsh money nngd men h;’ipcannings g-nil:in
nations. or next hundred years that
remunerative dividends, : L returning high

@
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INTRODUCING MERINOS 347
those who bought them was John Macarthur. The next sty

in the evolution of Australian wool was the arrival of somg Qreose dBRERRGSATE SR it doe. wighus SRR EREREE
English sheep from Ireland. It was the accidental crossing of Jratephonse &nd Ken:,l k‘egt Smm.mr Eperissiahts Lo Capt:_nn
the two breeds that first awakened Macarthur to the prospect ey m?d the Re?v.t i Cnvbought. i .rest e
of profit in wool. For there was a notable improvement in the Joer WEIBUHER fdupedintor daste Ui Igvai R

covering of the offspring of the alliance between the Bengal and ouse ans fKent
English sheep. In 1796, Captain Waterhouse and Captain Kenl The improvement in the wool that, it was hoped, would result
in charge of two British ships were sent to the Cape to bring from the crossing of tpe new merino sheep with those already
back provisions. While there they bought some Spanish mering in the colony \f\ras achlevgd in practice. “The introduction of a
sheep. These were part of the flock which had belonged to the preed of Spam.sh sheep into the_ flocks of individuals,” wrote
commandant* of the Dutch forces there. Macarthur claimed Governor King 1n September 1899, “have [sic!] so much improved
afterwards that he had asked Waterhouse and Kent to buy sheep - feocet tha13 U R dppRRTEnte L W
for him. But there is no mention of his having done so in the tity of wool being produced mla few yea}‘s. A great p:—ineht will
letter** that Waterhouse wrote to Sir Joseph Banks (16/7/1806), _arise i t?e c(}lOIfl_Y hetr}?after tml érim taimﬂf Ofl clot‘rll}mlg. 'BULtI
i am sorr 0 say, rom e wretched state e sheep be onging to
R e o S Macarthur was allowed to buy onj the govﬁrnment are in, that it will be some time before any

+ Golonel Gordon, & Scottish officer in the Dutch service, who did nol b dvantage of that kind can be obtained from them, as they are
nyg L?"g%lgfﬁf tst;!eeelgnhsh capture of Cape Colony from the Dutch. His mostly of the Cape breed, whose covering is hair. But I beg
wiao’ e .

efforts of mine will b wanting to

#* Captain Waterhouse's account runs: “In 1797 I arrived in the lo assure your Grace oy 0- 5 n'r 2 t - f

‘Reliance’ at the Cape of Good Hope, together with the ‘Supply’ (Captain encourage and promote the Spanish breed.” In a despatch 0

Kent) “fld ‘ﬁ'{if-’mﬂia-' tfgnspm;v{ i010 bﬂ&i-‘d fthetll'_lﬂreliance’ was the Com- over a year later,* King returned to the subject: “As I am VeLy
missary for the purpose of purchasing cattle or the settlement. On board .., xj : P ;
the ‘Britannia’ were Governor King and Colonel Paterson, on their way anxious to increase and improve the quality of the wool, your

to England, both which gent'emen had been acquainted with Colonel Grace will observe by the enclosed the quantity of sheep govern-

Gordon, mentioned above. Colornel Gordon had imported a few Spanish i any wool; but as I ex-
sheep to the Cape, which had increased to thirty-two. Mrs. Gordoli'l was it DRt o not one of which a 4 :

then going to England, and for some reason did not choose to leave any- changed some wethers for their half-bred _Spanish rams in
gﬁ“g, f,“‘“he?“’i‘ﬁe‘éo to her %@eshusbgnctlhat the Cape. She gave three December last, government will in time get into that valuable
panish sheep vernor King, an ree to Colonel Pate: : s R :
remainder, 1 understood, were offered to the Commiksary, but gioﬁec“ggg ‘commodity. It has not been so with the flocks now belonging
t-tg purchase bhe‘izladon tbel;?lrdo{ the gtl:;vemment. They were then offered to individuals who have had the advantage of Spanish rams,
me; as I could not afford to purenase the whole, Captain Kent (that i eir flo re becoming covered with wool, and in &
they might not be lost to the colony) offered to take half. We each }’Y_Whlch th ir cks a x g gk hhat,anumber
tecoived thirteen, and I took Governor King's on board the ‘Reliance.’ aily state of improvement. It appears, , that
S:ilfl“:; f aéejfggn tg;’k 1;‘;;: Iﬁilggg;ld- t& present to Sir J. Sinclair, We ©f owners of sheep were intent on improving the quality of their
oy o m; the expense on deli 5‘ :
%1 a head more. The expense of food, &, for the Sayacs ahid "f,ziya}:’g;‘f ool Amongst these was John Macarthur. Governor King was
tlacxabte. .1 do ot remember the number I had alive when T arrived 8IS0 anxious to improve the wool-producing powers of the gov-
at Port Jackson, but I think more than half. Captain Kent, who I under- ernment flocks. An opportunity that presented itself of increas-
g these flocks presenbéd in 1801, but King was not able to avail

stood shared his with Colonel Brathwaite, I believe lost a’l S
clzut%sta:acesnof his gé)l;;;lﬁin% to me fog ttmlt_a immediately on ﬁgrgﬁiﬁﬁe B A
offered all mine e overnor, bu suppose he o e A 5 f JOhn g B

were in the colony, as he declined purchasingﬂthem. waé:;%:;;ﬂﬁazg.rgg?; imigelf of 1t because of the sharp dealtng 9

thlfgl Pﬁfﬁfd e gulneals per head, provided I would let him have the In August of that year Major Foveaux who Wwas then

S Sils L riad) wiilo to dificiuite tham, 1 Sipplied: CRuiSiSeUErAn G VAR at Norfolk Island offered to’ sell his sheep
o the government because of his inability to look ,aiter them.
pparently, Macarthur was superintending Foveaux’s farm and
eep during the latter’s absence and the Governor sent John

Kent, Captain Macarthur, Captain Rowley, and Mr.

Spanish ewes had lambed—none but Spanish rams rﬁnf&rgd\:}ilt'h tAl'?eI:llle'
T supplied Mr. Willlamson, Mr. Moore, the government, and, in fact, any
person who wished to have them. I never had any other but'spanish ‘rams
with my flock, and on my quitting the colony sold the same to Mr, Cox
Paymaster, with the exception of a few to Captain Macarthur, Most ho
had Spanish sheep were particular abouf them, and I took ;;alns 1 ‘E.‘ls-
perse them. I can assert that several of the Spanish sheep I orig‘;n 1y
brought from the Cape, together with their produce, were i% the ﬂ{m?: s
left behind’—@uoted in Burfitt, pp. 5-7.—It does not therefore appear

tter
¢ he hought the sheep on instructions from Macarthur—else the la
ould have had them all and waterhouse would not have offered them to
he Governor.
~ * November, 1801.
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Jamieson to him with a copy of a letter from Foveaux.* Jamiy
son was “to inspect, mark, and take possession of the sheep ay
farms for his Majesty’s use.” King knew that when dealing will
Macarthur one should be prepared for all eventualities. 8o
“should Captain Macarthur raise any objections, or prevent yo
from proceeding herein, you will obt

ain his written answert
that purpose, and communicate it to the Governor without lu

of time.” Macarthur's reply was that “the Governor should b
acquainted that the sheep are all now on my farm; that partt
them, with Major Foveaux’s farm,
of the powers vested in me for that purpose; and that the &
maining part will also be, sold i
terms which are transmitted to him by the ‘Venus.’” Ensig
Bayly also wrote informing the Governor’s secretary that he hi
been authorised to dispose of Foveaux’s sheep and that Ma
arthur hsl bought them. It was a smart deal! Foveaux’'s shet
were “mixed” with Macarthur’s—(did the “mixing” process tak
place when Macarthur got wind of the governor’s intention? ¢
pefore? in either case by whosg authority and for what purpos
except to present a fait accompli?)—and could not be separatel
By such tendentious shepherding of an absent man’s flocks wa
Macarthur aiming at appropriating them when the moment wa
opportune—that is when some other person showed intention
of buying. Foveaux could do nothing else but agree to th
sale.*”
+ Foveaux's letter to King read: “I thank you very much for your kint
offer about my sheep. My situation on this island prevents my payini
that attention to them that I know 1S mecessary. On that consideratior
§ i sccst ous, ot o5, Sndlona, b Lk Lr 58 00,000 o
Tt dotng 1 mm?én?ﬁivir ou think will be most
yDErT%%nEﬂaﬁ had other posl;ible repercussions ?3: Ktﬁlgm yHaéi ‘i?:sagsﬂ'
the buying of Macarthur's sheep and farms when the latter was
ing of selling out in

Then Macarth: [
Governor and was Sen up el

thought of the big bill th |
advice was accepted) when Maca are would he (i &
He wrote home at once by two different ships: “
arthur has thrown a
tg:s.t pm;chaueﬁens he .
ys helore embarked, and several head of cattle, in

great number he had before, which he has signifyed his dﬁggg?:attignt
llaelngmwnllderedt astl_llncluttleu(: in é‘lism?;'quosms at the prices stipulated:
2. a head for the cal an = for the g
2 a0 i, 2 e e S L b
ract wi , Campbell 28 per head for the . ort
than two pounds was given by Captain Macarthur f(é:‘ttelé ﬁgo " "
burchased lately, with 1000 acres of land included. He has also

i . Bui Capul
great objection in the way of guyemn{é’n?“;,fﬁ-

were yesterday sold by virti:

f Major Foveaux approves of &

phink: si
1800. He had also advised the buyin ol 3 i
s e e ving of any increas. and its increase,

 thereof from this country. and until his answer
t home—just after he had bought » % ’
King shuddered at the ght Foveaux’s sheel

rthur parted company with his sheefl one-

has not only purchased up 1400 sheep within a fe

. on this oceasion, which compelled mﬁ:evious to his departure, and be
hased, The present price for cattle, according to com '

WOOL OR MEAT? 349

The situation of the colony at this time, however, did not favor
the rapid growth of the wool industry. The demand for mutton
was so great that most sheep-owners were content to produce
meat and for this purpose the Indian sheep were better. Of
those who tried to improve the wool Macarthur was perhaps the
most indefatigable and certainly had the resources which
obviated the necessity of his seeking the immediate profit to be
derived from breeding for the butcher. At any rate he was
determined to breed wool and not meat. In his own words:
«The sheep I first began to breed from were of the Bengal race,
weighing about 6 1b. per quarter. I improved these by rams
obtained from a cross between the Cape ewe and some rams of
the Spanish bred. I cannot ascertain the particular breed of
the rams. I afterwards obtained a number of ewes of the Cape
‘breed, and these I continued to cross with rams bearing wool.
By this means I obtained what I conceived to be a fine breed of
Spanish sheep, and bred as many of this pure breed as possible.
and crossed all the ewes bearing coarse wool, or being of the
‘hairy sort, with rams of the Spanish breed.”* In 1801, Mac-
arthur was sent home for trial by Governor King.* Instead of
peing court-martialled while there, however, he found backing
for his plans and returned fo Sydney with an order for grants ot
jand which would render possible the vast extension of his pas-
toral interests.

3.—MACARTHUR'S WOOL IN ENGLAND.—The first Aus-
tralian wool to reach England was some produced by John Mac-
arthur and sent by him to Sir Joseph Banks in 1800. Of the
eight samples sent an expert reported that, if “they could pre-

conditional bill for their amount; it wil serve numbers 1 and 2 for their breed in the colony, I think
hat I leave entirely to you, being confident ol .

am authorised to make the bargain for the stock
and should choose to take to myself the respon-
he has since purchased
is informed
is received, which wou'd
the bargain could be closed, at which
of cattle and sheep will be reduced
s he is to be paid £37 a head for
than £20 a head; £2/10/- &
/10/-. This!,

of

consume at least two years before th
ime I have no doubt but that the price
half; but according to his proposal
is cattle, when they
head for the sheep, when they may
alculating the common increase of the stock,
t least £19,000 on the public.
Macarthur doubtless has in view from the

design of treat-

e receipt of His Grace's last despa ive concerns on

ng any further on behalf of the Crown for

own responslhﬂipy."
» See above, p. 236.

to relinquish any
his extens
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they may make good progress in their breed and wool”* Ty
two samples in guestion were from a “ewe** imported from ty

Cape of Good Hope” and from “a ramf one year old,” bred froy
her.

Macarthur took some wool with him, too, when he went}
England in 1801. It was “deemed superior, in point of softnes
and in all other respects equal, to the best Spanish wool, an
worth here about 6/- per 1b.”} Macarthur endeavored to fou
a company to grow wool in New South Wales and he gave ev
dence before the Privy Council Committee for Trade. He claime
to have proved by his “gxperience of many years, the climal
of New South Wales peculiarly adapted to the increase of fine
wool sheep, and that from the unliniited extent of luxurial
pasturages with which that country abounds, millions of tho
valuable animals may be raised in a few years with but litth
other expense than the hire of a few shepherds.” He went @
to give particulars of the great improvements shown in th
amount and quality of the wool produced since the introzuctie:
of the Cape sheep. “I have now,” he proceeded, “about 400
sheep, amongst whom there are no rams but of the Spanisl
breed. I calculate that they will, with proper care, double them
selves every two and a half years, and that in twenty year
they will be so increased as to produce as much fine wool as i
now imported from Spain and other countries, at an annui
expense, to Great Britain, of £1,800,000. . . . I am so convince
of the practicability of supplying this country with any quantitij;
of fine-wool it may require that I am earnestly solicitous ¢
prosecute this, as it
my return to New South Wales I will devote my whole attentil
to accelerating its complete attainment. All the risk attendant
on the undertaking I will cheerfully bear; I will require I
pecuniary aid, and all the encouragement I humbly solicit i
the protection of government, permission to occupy a sufficien
tract of unoccupied lands to feed my flocks, and the indulgenc
of selecting from amongst the convicts such men for shepher

+ Bydney Gazette, 26/3/1803, quoted in Burfitt, pp. 13-15.

ss w1t appears by the fleece to be a real Spanish
very good; worth, when scoured, 4/- breed. .

4 “Nearly as good as the King's Spanish wool at "

expert, “quite free from hair, and an excellent qus.ﬁty.o ::‘1”;:11’?55 said 15

and could the coony produce such kinds of wools 1L WA é’- per 1b

sequilion fo our manischring s FERES: ‘b
rue Briton,” 3/ , quoted, Burfitt, p.

wool sold for 10/4 per Ib. p. 15.—Some of Macarthul

5 THE Eed
per lb., if not more,” said theeevgp

i d
appears to me, important Shileot and "“ff'l been cleared and manured,

ested and were urging the
couragement to Macarthur.
them, by their representatives in London, full of enthusiasm
about Macarthur’s wool and urging the sending of memorials
to Parliament.t The result was that memorials were
all over England.
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as may, from their former occupations, know something of the
business.”*

Ex-Governor Hunter also gave evidence and Sir Joseph Banks's
opinion was asked. Hunter agreed with Macarthur's judgment
of the prospects before the Australian pastoral industry— ‘with
care and attention, 1 am of opinion that a great quantity of
fine-wool may be produced.”

The consultation of Banks, however, gave that gentleman an
opportunity to make a prognostication as false as that which
he had made in 1770.%* He was sent a copy of Macarthur’s state-
ment and he replied that he knew of the introduction of merinu
sheep in New South Wales and had seen some of their fleeces.
«1 have seen fleeces of this kind of sheep, imported from New
South Wales,” he wrote, “the quality of which was equal to
Spanish wools of the second or third rate piles; but I have not
seen any equal to the best piles of Old Spain and believe that it
has degenerated in that country, as it does not in this. I have
no reason to believe, from any facts that have come to my
knowledge, either when I was in that country or since, that the
climate or soil of New gSouth Wales is at all better calculated for
the production of fine-wool than that of other temperate
climates, and am confident that the natural grass of the coun-
try is tall, course, reedy, and Very different from the short and
sweet mountain grass of Europe, upon which sheep thrive to
the best advantage.” And he went on to give his opinion that
the cost of producing wool in New South Wales and exporting

" it to England would be prohibitive: uit, will be found on inquiry

that sheep do not prosper well there, unless in lands that have
with some labour and expense,”
and the freight to England would make the price there out of
the question. Sir Joseph Banks knew quite a deal about the
capabilities of New South Wales for one who had spent a few
days at one of its most unfavorable spots.

In the meantime, the wool manufacturers had become inter-
government to give tangible en-
A circular letter was sent out to

sent from

English capitalists were therefore now taking 2 keen interest

L Mn.carth;did not need ‘‘pecuniary aid"—only the land and labor
necessary for the consummation of his

plans!
#+ See above, pp. 130-1.

4+ The letter ran: “Sir—During R

our attendance here on the
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in New South Wwales. There were prospects of a plentiful ang
cheap supply of wool, and legislature, magistrates, the growin
“phumanity” of juries which were beginning to stop short o
death sentences, the enclosures and the laws against combing
tions, unlawful assemblies and rioting, all combined to ensuy
an adequate reservoir of cheap labor for New South Wales pas
toralists. The government was urged to help Macarthur but, &
yet, no private company Wwas formed. There was talk of thi
formation of a company with a capital of £10,000 and Sir Josept
Banks recommended the granting of a million acres, but
action resulting in its coming into being was taken. The woi
manufacturers seemed eager to welcome New South Wales whel
it came but evidently preferred to wait and see—urging the
government and Macarthur to take all the risks of failure.

But Macarthur came back to Australia pleased with the result
of his compulsory, visit to England. The fact that his trip hal
been obligatory was all put forgotten. His court-martial dit
not eventuate and, on his return, King was instructed to lél
bygones be bygones, to forgive and forget and to make friend
with Macarthur. King was also instructed to grant him nol

in English life and economy,
1ord Chancellor still sits on a
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and a ewe which he had bought of King George’s stud merinos
and with which he had embarked—in spite of an unrepealed
Act of Edward 1 which provided the penalty of having the right
hand cut off and of being branded on the forehead for export-
ing sheep from England, A dispensation to export his sheep
was granted. Soon English wool manufacturers were to do more
than this. Wwith the home wool-growing industry approaching its
demise they were to become, within two decades, ravenously
nungry for the wool of New South Wales.

4. DECLINE OF BRITISH WOOL.—Upon wool and sheep had
pbeen laid the foundations of English as later of Australian
wealth. A crowd of reminders there are in our language and
Jiterature, our customs and traditions, of the part they played
from the Middle Ages onward. The
woolsack, inns are still known by
such names as “yoolpack” and the “Fleece”® in towns and
yillages that were once centres of the woollen industry, an
unmarried woman is still known as a spinster and we still know

Jess than 5000 acres of land. Macarthur brought pack with him the trades of our ancestors by the names we pear: Sherman,
Dyer, Weaver, F

five rams and one ewe. These were

the Woo'len Bill we have
this time a breed
Desirous, of course,
ant to the manufacturing interests, we procured
View with Captain Macarthur, the proprietor of the flock in question, Who
had brought samples of the wool over with him, .

been fortunate

of Spanish sheep in the colony of New South Wales

comes from Spain; and, from
persuaded the quality is improv
guantity may so materially incr
British market as great’y to reduce the price of the article, and in
render us perfectly independent of Spain for a supply. f
will afford him the necessary encourage
takes to return to the colony without del
utmost.

) If Governmen
ment, Captain Macarthur under
ay and promote the object to th

“we have, on behalf of the clothing interest, laid the matter before Lord

Hobart, and Captain Macarthur has also ha i i
Administration_on the subject. o en nterviey SIS
disposed to glve it every encouragement; but in o rmly
on their notice, and give the application mmpleter%%eg? iiTlﬁ::s btiafa . ug-
gested to advise the c'othiers to present a memorial e‘xprgssiv ;1 :hgu
appreciation of the plan, and their conviction of its importan e
therefore beg to recommend you directly to call a meeting of t‘if' clothiers
i your district, laying the subject before them, and, if the ooiove W
measure, get their signatures to a memorial as ‘proposed v aAppruve 11
e et town before your reply can reach us here, your mer £ wa SUSH
e rwarded in due form to the Treasury. But LR shoulé
advanced, and the adjournment of Pariament may shortl on ls now 16
When the members of Administration will be leaving town y be expected)
mend promptitude in your proceedings.” » We would recom

the survivors of seven rams -
produced the

enough to learn that there is 8l English

to ascertain a fact which, if true, was so highly import: been going on for centuries when,

without delay an inter- the English wool industry faced a crisis. With the resumption
I yho of normal trade relations English home-grown wool had to com-
L We have the satisfactiod | . . =

%o state that the wool is of very superlor quality—eaual to most which pete with Spanish and German. During

the statement of Captain Macarthur, we are |

igfs'e ax}g ths;t, with pro'})er attention, the ¢
i a few years, the suppl, the © E
P Ofum,; export to England. Prices fell.

Government, we are happy to say, aré

We ™

uller, Webber, Walker. First, English fields had
wool for Flemish looms; then, woollen goods from
This had
after the Napoleonic Wars,

looms had supplied the markets of Europe.

the wars, Silesian wool
wool, were introducing merino
sheep from Spain and, at their end, had a fine, soft wool to
«gouth Down wool fell from 2/6
1815—its average price throughout the long wars—to 1/6 in
20, and less than ninepence in 1827.7'* The foreign wool could
ndersell English wool even during the short period, 1819 to
824, when there was an import duty of 6d. a lb.,, and, MOreover,
was finer and silkier than the home-growi. The call of profits
as more insistent than the call of patriofism. The manufac-
UrErs demanded foreign wool and the sheep-growers of England
aced ruin.**

srowers were improving their

= In Coggeshall, for example; see Eileen Power: Medieval People, DP-

50-1.

ugi 1 by
## “Sixgpence a pound was ngncha.lantly offered for South Down W00
taplers who had their eyes on the newer products of Germany, a{nrgmth:
esser English breeds declined in proportion. 4 tself to
1/24 to 1lid. in 1827; English merino ha'ved itsel

-
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5. FIGHT FOR THE MARKET.—Macarthur arrived back
Sydney in June, 1805, with a letter from Lord Camden authy
ijsing a grant of land to him, and advising that, as “Mr. Mag
arthur has represented that the lands he wishes to be o
veyed to him are situated near about Mount Taun
as being peculiarly adapted for sheep,” his desires should §
acceded to. Mr. Macarthur was also to be provided with to
convicts he desired. King did not like giving away the Cox
pastures. They were some of the best land east of the mou
tains and he desired to retain them for the herd of cattle whic
had given them their name and which had flourished there fort
long.* All of which, of course, explains why Macarthur put!
his claim for them before he left Eng
only half-heartedly protest

when dealing with a man whom |
had sent home to

be court-martialled but who had ret

the grant.”

Macarthur found his
Edward Wood, a wool-classer whom he had brought out with
and the Rev. Marsden were given a
nor to report on the Colony’s sheep.™
provement in the quality and quantity of the wool to
ness of the climate and the richness of the pasturage.
“reported that he was satisfied ‘that with due care and at
tion to propagate from the pure race of Spanish sheep, unf
sufficient numbers of them can be raised, or from the near
kind of them that can be procured, the whole of the wool wo!
in a very few years, hecome equal in quality to the very b
that is obtained from Spain.’ He expressed regret, howev
that this consummation was being retarded by the prejudice
favor of weight of carcase. . . . There were several breeds €
sheep in the Colony at the time, including the Teeswater, an:
Marsden was introducing rams of the Leicester and Lincol:;s
breed. Of Macarthur’s flock of more than five thousand sixt
were pure Spanish, and the whole were much improved in th
guality of the wool. He had tested all the breeds in the colonj
and found that with respect to constitution, size and aptitu
to fatten, the Spanish surpassed them all." :

Macarthur was not the only wool-grower i ;
addition to those already here there were e;tﬁgr;?hgiggyéo

commission by the Govel

1/9 and remained unsaleable for three years; ‘WhiLé this Chsviot ootk

ments from Scotland and the border-country w
bugers! . . . Meanwhile, the staplers of Eos o 1o, 1EAT S
eagerly to Germany and, though much less confident, ma&chester & i
of the South!"—Roberts, p. 50. ¥ e new colon

';abDut 60,000 1bs. in 1814.°
‘Samuel Marsden

Jising the English market.

land. The Governor col foreign wool W

url ginued to improve in quality.®
with the backing of powerful ones in England. He had to md wool as a jok

Marsden ascribed the ilLand were reduce
“the mill gradual ousting o
¥ W0l Germany was exporting
tel The Germans had concentrated on fine wool
ffgheir breeding to this end, sheep,
‘and its softness suffered.

' wool.

with special reference to the probable increase of colonial production,
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out with him—men with money to invest. Soon ships began to
take away Australian wool; 524 lbs. were taken in 1807 and
Other early growers of wool were
(whom King acclaimed as the best farmer
in the Colony pbut who announced his policy as pbeing “to improve
the constitution of the sheep, the weight of the carcases, and
the quality of the wool. Upon this general principle I have
acted, without attending to any one of these things separately.”™)
and Paymaster Captain Cox of the N.S.W. Corps.

alian wool had entered but was a long way from monopo-

slow but steady progress was made
up till 1819 (about 90,000 lbs. in that year), when the duty on

as imposed. About the same time freights for
Australian wool were reduced to threepence a pound and it con-
Many had treated Botany Bay
d to do so after 1822 when the Society

Austr

e—they cease

of Arts presented Macarthur with medals for wool that was as
wool improved beyond anticipatiol fine as the best Saxon. That year surely marks an i

hip turning point in the development of the Australian wool

mportant
industry.
from New South Wales and Van Diemen’s
d and thence onward the story is one of the
f foreign by Australian wool. By 1834 only
to England more wool than Australia.
and, as a result of
amount of wool, its strength
The increase in the production of
ool bringing down prices made such specialisation uneconomic.
n the other hand merchants and a parliamentary committee*
ere praising Australian wool for its fineness and softness, its

i with the harder English wool and
the Germans turned towards quantity,
oping to produce in satisfactory amounts a satisfactory medium
But time and opportunity were on the side of the new
ountry. The land was vast in extent, the squatters had already
proken the bands in which the government had sought to cramp
and their sheep runs were square miles in extent.
The wool rush of the thirties for those who had money to “put
to four feet” was as intense as was the gold rush of the fifties
money and those who had none. Across
in Van Diemen’s Land, in
whither squatters flocked from north
Strait, and in the new colony of

" The duties on wool

-values,

+ A Committee to report on the cause of the depression in wool e
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South Australia—sheep were being bred. Only time was need
to bring the victory to the Australian wool Erowers. And thy
time had come before the end of the forties. In 1849, Austral®
exported nearly 36 million 1bs. to England—Spain sent 1274
1bs. and Germany 12% millions!
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6.—THE LAND COMPANIES.—Bigge’s report had pointed
Australia as a sphere for the profitable investment of Britié
capital. The land, the labor and the opportunity to produce!
needed raw material were all there. What was needed W
wealthy individuals or joint stock companies to take up gran
of land and grow wool. The ‘twenties were a period of speculi
tion and there was much talk of formation of companies ap
profitable investment in New South Wales. One concrete resi
of the interest aroused by the Report was the creation of a col

_one acre for each pound of capital. This company was th
Australian Agricultural Company, founded in 1824. X

England, twenty-eight other Members of Parliament, includinl

Brougham and Joseph Hume, the Chairman of the Bank of ENf glaves from Africa and for

land with nine of the Directors, and the Chairman and Sl to Liverpool, the rival port of the Hull he represented in par-

as well as a large numbé Jiament, invested between one and three thousand pounds in
of bankers and other persons of influence.”* ;;the

Directors of the East India Company,
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John Stephen, Charles Throsby and William Walker held from
10 to 30 shares each:* Alexander Berry, Edward C. Close,
Frederick A. Hely, John Henderson, Patrick Hill, Rev. Richard
Hill, James Murdoch, Peter Murdoch, James Norton, Robert
gcott (in conjunction with Helenus Scott) and Edward Wool-
stonecraft held fewer than 10 shares** each.

The list of the English shareholders is also of interest. Fifteen
of them gave, as their address, the Stock Exchange! Other elo-
quent addresses of shareholders are: Colonial Office, Downing
street (two); Navy Office (two); Bank of England (one); Globe
Insurance Office (one); Lombard Street (five); Lloyd’'s Coffee
House (one); 8 Austin Friars (thirteen); Glyn & Co. (one—our
friend, Commissioner Bigge); G. & J. Brown (four); Old Broad
‘Street (eight); King’s Arms Yard (seven). Quite evidently a

. b ; of official, financial and commercial London had faith
pany with a huge capital to which were granted 1,000,000 ack _jgreat AR o .

in the ability of the A.A. Co. to turn out profits. The sharé list,

- too, preserves echoes of the wild speculation of the ’'twenties.

; 324. “Among i ergymen, soldiers, sailors, widows, maiden aunts and lawyers
subscribers were the Attorney-General and Solicitor-General 0 piaced their money i

3 n the new companies, amongst them the
‘A.A. Co. William Wilberforce, whose heart bled for the black
the wealth that trade in them took

company that was to become rich by exploiting the white

Commissioner Bigge” himself became a shareholder in the né “slaves he helped to send to New South Wales. Fathers with large

company! Indeed, official circles and parliament were well T€
resented. In the 1828 list of shareholders®*—some 360 nameé
there were no fewer than 28 members of parliament, includi
the Attorney General, sir Charles Wetherell, and, of these, eigh’

held more than 90 shares** each. There were 38 shareholdert

residing in New South Wales. It is of interest to list these.
John Macarthur and John Macarthur, Jun., held over 90 sharest
each; James Macarthur, Willlam Macarthur, Hannibal Hawki
Macarthur, John Oxley, and the Rev. Thomas Hobbs Sco
Archdeacon of N.8.W., held from 30 to 60 sharesi each; Jame
Bowman, John Thomas Campbell, Robert Camphell, Robe;-t Daw-

son, David Grant Forbes, Thomas Icely (in conjunction with ihe plan for extending Cultivation, and producing WOOL of the

Matthew Hindson), Mrs. Penelope Lucas, Charl :

| e ]
Thomas Macvitie, Rev. Samuel Marsden, G. G. Millss Jg){larfaétzx
George Thomas Palmer, Rev. James Scott, Alexanéer B. Spall

* Coghlan, p. 231.
#* £100 shares.

+ A ghareholder with 980 or more ghares had four vot -

! ‘A Shareholder with 60 to 90 shares had three i ‘
shares had two votes. i one with 30 to 60

amilies of daughterst bought shares for all of them and sisters
ombined in all the possible combinations of pairst to buy
hares. There was no lack of investors in & million pound com-
any with a million acre grant. British capital had definitely
egun to take an interest in New South Wales.

In the prospectus® issued by the Company, enthusiastic

language was used in regard to the prospects of profits to be

derived from New South Wales. «rn the wide range of objects
oresented, during modern times, to commercial enterprize,” it
aid, “there is perhaps, none that holds out the prospect of greater
hational benefit, or of more certain individual emolument, than

nest quality, in NEW SOUTH WALES."” I‘teasoning by“;nhe
analogy of Germany where «thirty years ago” there were “Iew

Jif any” merinos, it judged that wealth from sheep in New South

+ Thus qualifying for orf:gx vote.

#+ And thus had no voles. .

 Like Thomas and Isabella, Caroline, Emma and Emlly’nl:l;;ggnmmn
and Benjamin and Aun, Phillis, BEllen, Lucy and Susal:ll 4 bon'

¢ Like Clementia, Elizabeth, Mary, Melusina and gophia Compton.
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Wales was to be abundant. The climate was better and {
was the possibility of expansion in New South Wales that
absent from Germany. In the meantime, England’s needs wi-;,:
expanding. England was importing just over 3,000,000 Ibs,
wool annually thirty years ago, went on the prospectus, Wi
last year (1823) she imported 20,651,415 lbs. :
It was also hoped that tobacco, hemp, flax, silk and opi
could profitably be grown. With these hopes the present oo
pany is formed and Lord Bathurst, “being satisfied of the g
benefits which would accrue to the Settlement from a I
investment of Capital—of the advantage to this country in be
supplied with the Finest Wool from a colony of our own—
of the probable reduction of Government expenditure, by |
employment of many Convicts as Shepherds, Mechanics ¢
Labourers, was pleased, on behalf of His Majesty’s Governm
to sanction the establishment of the Company” and to d
that 1,000,000 acres be granted to it.

“sndly. From the breeding of Cattle and other Live S
and the raising of Corn, Tobacco, etc., for the supply of Per
resident in the Colony. :

“3rdly. From the production, at a more distant time, of W
Olive-0il, Hemp, Flax, Silk, Opium, etc. as articles of export
Great Britain.

“4thly. From a progressive advance in the value of the lan
as it becomes improved by cultivation, and by an increased pop
lation.”*

7—MINING COAL.—Coal was discovered at Newcastle |
Lieutenant Shortland in September, 1797, and was being hei
and exported in 1801.** The first settlement made there in fl
latter year was abandoned in 1802 although “occasional supp
of coal and cedar for buildings are got from thence”—v

was filled almost immediately after he wrote. The “fit persol

* The first directors of the A.A. Co. were John Smith M.P. Goverl ]

(who held over 9000 shares), William Mannin; 4 \
H. Grey Bennet, M.P,, James Brogden, M.P,, é;,@;‘éi’-’B?awd Barclay, HC
Robert Campbell, W. Crawford, T. A. Curtis, R Har?:wg, I W
Robert T. Farquhar, Simon Hal iday, Joseph Hume, M.P avis, ALE
Died Larpent, Joh#i Loch, John Macarthur, Donald Mecloun Siut
Marjoribanks, M.P,, Hon. J. T. Leslie Me]vflle_ a. W acleat, F

Porcher, M.P,, R. M. Raikes, J. Goldshorou . Norman,
and Thomas Tooke. gh Ravenshaw, J. B, Ri

** See above, pp. 274-5.

“The sources from wh‘si" manded suspension of practice,
the Profits of the Company are expected to be derived, aré
“1st. From the growth and export of Fine Wool, from Merfi:f

Sheep of the most approved kind. " Governor Brisbane granted Thomas Winder some sort of control

. of coal production but the arrangement did not provide Sydney
with a satisfactory supply. John Busby, when placed in charge,
" was able to improve matters but Sydney people were still erying
" out about the scareity of coal The attempts of the governmc_ant
" to carry on coal production came to end in 1831, when the mtn-
“ing of coal became a monopoly in the hands of the A.A, Co.*

" placed haulage by pbullocks.

orew.
ney, especially the Gas Company, and from other's whzogviil;;g
to mine coal. “It is time,” said the ‘Sydney Herald' (3:240),

under what is now Flagstaff Hill.” (Jervis, D. 172)—A _new
deep was opened in 1817 in the ‘‘block now surrounded by Ne
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 was Lieutenant C. A. F. N. Menzies who set out on March 27, 1804,

with three ships, to re-found the settlement at Coal Harbour.i
some of the participants in the Convict Revolt* of 1804 were
sent to work in the mines, which Menzies found “dug in a most
shameful manner,” no “proper supports” having heen left.
The conditions of the convicts in early Newcastle approached
the horrors of Port Arthur. Insufficient and often bad rations,
few clothes, scarcity of beddings, medical supplies lacking, the
prisoners leg-ironed, frequent floggings, continual attempts to
escape from it all—such were the conditions of living. The
conditions of working in the mines were worse: a four feet six
seam, bad air, little or no ventilation, continual standing in
water and no change into dry clothes, consumption, asthma and
rheumatism as a result being common complaints.
The ‘mines were proclaimed crown property but, until the
esulting anarchy of exploitation and haphazard methods de-
individuals were allowed to
ine in various parts. Later, Macquarie reserved all mineral
ights for the crown and Bigge advised the granting of leases.

The Company sank a new mine on Shepherd’s Hill, an engine

was employed fo raise the coal and a railway and trucks re-

On December 10, 1831, the A.A.
o’s first coal was loaded at Newcastle. More land was pur-
hased and other shafts sunk and in 1847 work was begtu‘la UII;
what is now known as the Borehole seam, at the modern subur

of Hamilton.i,

Opposition to the continuance of the Company’s m9no§oé¥
It came from two quarters: from the consumers in =Sy~

onopoly ceased and that any person having sufficient capital

+ Thenceforth to he known as Newcastle, wrote King, but Menzies called

it King's Town.

* plans for a revolt in Newcastle were discovered in Jume.
#* Not without protest: see below.

the shore
+ “The first coal mined was obtained from a seam level Wiﬁ;m - elu F
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and enterprise should be allowed to compete with the Con
pany.”” Seven months before, the Gas Company had sent
memorial to Governor Gipps seeking the cancellation of N
monopoly. :

in the meantime, there had been attempts to break f
monopoly by individuals who wished to mine coal on their oy
account. They either appealed to the Governor or else, taki
direct action, defied the Company and its legal rights by b

ceeding to extract coal. In 1838, Governor Gipps granted =

right to mine coal at Western Port to C. Swanston and, in 18
decided to grant similar rights in Moreton Bay. The Compal
protested vigorously in both cases. The challenge was &b
thrown down to the Company in the Newcastle district itsel
On Lake Macquarie, at Ebenezer, coal was being hewn a
delivered regularly in Sydney in 1841 Three years later, Jam
Brown began extracting coal at Four Mile Creek and entert
into a contract to supply the Hunter River Steamship Compar,
The A.A. Co. proceeded against Brown and won its case. It Wi
o barren victory, however, and the Company had to bow to i
inevitable. James Brown and other continued to mine coal &
Minmi and elsewhere. In 1847, the Company agreed to the cat®
cellation of its monopoly rights, and, during the next few de

Chapter X.
APPROPRIATING A CONTINENT

WHERE IS THE FLAG OF ENGLAND?

And the winds of the world made answer:
“North, South, East and West
Wherever there is wealth to covet
Or land that may be possessed.”
__Henry Labouchere.

1.—Reaching Out; 5_yvan Diemen's He 1; 3.—Swan River: 4.—Wake-

. field's discovery; 5—Place for a village; 6.—Squatters’ Queensland; 7—

cades, there was something in the nature of a coal rush gEAUST*

individuals and companies seeking rights and sites to mine.*

e
Ordnance, Barker and Tyrrell Streefs.”
where now Hunter and MarkEtdStif‘fEtT intersect.

* During the fifties many individuals and companies be i i
and around Newcast'e: Dr. Mitchell’'s Burwood m?ne in mggn l:t:gi%ikelt
B er by the Newcastle Coal and Copper Company; a mine at Glebe, 1851
J. and A. Brown in many parts—Minmi (1847), Burwood (1854) Tom
(1857) ; Newcastle and wallsend Coal Company hegan sinking a’ Sl
Wallsend in 1858 and was exporting coal in December, 1860; work beg
at Waratah, 1859; for further development see a later chapter

Bul'i mines were first worked in 1857, Other fields opened were: Ipswi ]

(Queensland), 1843; Fingal (Tasmania), 1855; i
1889; Collie (W.A.), 1889. i Bt Gippsland (VIctofSy

HE settlement had passed its majority and its inhabitants
Another was later sunk at a sp=

had crossed the parrier between it and the interior. With
capital waiting to be invested and with the 1ooms. of Eng-
land ready to absorb all the wool produced, the undiscovered

and to the west could not remain long undiscovered. Individuals

and explorers—the advance guard or the rejects of civilisation—
B vere soon to be found all over the continent. Rivers were sought
2nd found and followed. Difficulties discovered were discovered
to be overcome. New settlements were made—sign posts warn-
ng off all foreign new comers. In the words of the Pmspe,ctus
of the A.A. Co,, Australia was to be “a colony of our own.

1.—REACHING OUT.—The pushing out of the settlement

peyond its original bounds, the desire for more and more grazmg
and, the rapid growth of a free population, by immigration and
by emancipation or expiration of sentences, the wool rush, all
oave scope to individuals who were prepared and anxious %0
nd out what lay beyond the rim of the known. i

Many of those “who discovered rivers and mountains
and fertile plains were squatters or would-he squatters who
sought fruitful land for themselves and their flocks. Otlflers
were intrepid men who, with the spirit ol ¢he true scien-

351
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tist, wanted to find out facts and to solve problems. Many
__the vast majority—of those who led the way from the known
to the unknown, who spread out fan-wise, from Sydney as a
centre, discovering new lands and new sites for settlements,
often at the risk and the sacrifice of their lives, are Unknown.
Convicts escaped from their known hell and sought another
that might not be so bad—many of them found deliverance
of death, others must have been pioneers in discovery and
exploration of whose labors others reaped the penefit and for
whose discoveries still others gained the credit, Lone squatters
and the servants of squatters first made discoveries that otpers
later made OT claimed. Men, officially accredited and recognised,
have been acclaimed the finder of that river, the traverser ot
that mountain range, the opener-up of that easy rm_zte. to a
fertile region. Whether any went before, in the majority of
cases, we know not. In other cases, we dq know and have not
given the credit. For example, Major Moqsett, commandant at
Newcastle, has often been given the credit fqr peing the first
to travel gverland between Newcastle and Wwindsor. And yep,
in 1805, four convicts who escaped from Newcast}e made their
way to Sydney together with a military escort which, sent aftei
them, caught them up at Reid’s Mistake;' one _of a crew of a
coaster wrecked near Newcastle in 1806 made' his way overland
to Sydney;* commissioner Bigge, while at Windsor, saw 2 con-
viet arrive who had escaped from Newcastle three weeks before
__having lived in the interim on roots and snakes and _grubs.’
of course in the majority of cases the exploits of the pioneers
do not detract from the parallel exploits of those who came
after, but some—we hope very few—appropriated the work of
their predecessors as their own. We do well, therefore, to give
a thought to the unknown, and to acclaim the work of the
unrecognised, pioneers. All of which, of course, does not pre=
yent us from admiring the exploits and being grateful for the
gacrifice and endurance of those whose work is recognised and.
duly aceredited.
The radiation, on the map of New South Wales, of explorers’
tracks from Sydney began with the crossing of the Blue Moun-
tains. Blaxland, Lawson and Wentworth were rewarded for thef
feat with grants of land across the mountains. Surveyor Eva
followed in their tracks reaching and naming three rivers: th
Macquarie and its two tributaries, the Fish and the Camphell.’
He returned to Sydney enthusiastic about the fertility of th
1.—Notes to this Chapter are at end of Book ILL
* Mrs. Macarthur’s maliden name,
.
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newly discovered plains. There were sufficient pastures, he
¢laimed, for a hundred years. Oxley set out again in 1515, from
the newly established settlement at Bathurst in a south-westerly
direction, and discovered the Lachlan River. The discovery of
these rivers, and, later, of others, gave rise to the theory that the
centre of Australia was a vast inland sea into which the rivers
flowed. For many Yyears thereafter explorers were concerning

themselves with unravelling the problem of the rivers and with
finding out where they flowed.

It was to discover where the Lachlan flowed to that an expe-
dition set out in April, 1817, from the depot established on it
by Oxley. It was in charge of the Surveyor-General, John Oxley,
and a botanist, Allan Cunningham. They followed the course
of the Lachlan until they were stopped by swampy land, when
they turned south-west. Again they were impeded—this time
by the thick mallee scrub—and made another change of direc-
tion: towards the north-west. When they turned back they
were within only twenty miles of discovering the Murrumbidgee.®
They struck the Lachlan again and, after following it for some
miles, again had to turn back because of the swamps. Then, :
proceeding up stream, they had to leave the Lachlan when they
reached the swamps that had first impeded them. Striking across
country in a north-easterly direction they hit on the Macquarie,

near where Wellington now stands, and followed it up to
Bathurst.

In the following year, setfing out from Bathurst, Oxley and
Evans this time followed the Macquarie. Again stopped by
swamps they became convinced that the rivers were flowing into
an inland sea. They abandoned the Macquarie, made in a north-
easterly direction, crossed and named the Castlereagh River,
the Arbuthnot Range and the Peel River, and discovered the
fertile Liverpool Plains. Crossing the Nundewar and New Eng-
land Ranges and naming Mount geaview,** from which they could
see the ocean, they struck the Hastings River and followed it
to the coast. Its entrance they named Porb Macquarie. Thence
they made their way down the coast to Newcastle, peing helped

% “The farther we proceed westerly,” OXIey wrote, “the more mnwmg&.
I am that for all the practical purposes of clvilised man the interior ol
this country westward of a certain meridian is \uninhabitable, deprived as
it is of wood, water and grass.”

=+ “@ilbao”s ecstasy &t the first sight of the gSouth Sea
been greater than ours” wrote Oxley, “when on E&H
this mountain, we beheld Old Ocean at our feet. Tt IC
life; every difficulty vanished, and in imagination we
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on this, by no means the. easiest portion of their trip, by the
discovery of 2 castaway boat, with which they crossed the Man-
ning and other coasta] streams,

By these expeditions, the finger was being pointed to new rich
and fertile plains where the pastoralists would Soon be able to
blant themselves ang their sheep. As it became evident, with
the definite adoption by the British government of the policy
advocated by Bigge, that the new land in process of discovery
was to be the possession of the big man angd not of the small
farmer, the problem arose of what was to be done with the
convicts whose services were not required. It wag decided to
establish a new benal settlement, or more, where undesired con-
viets could be sent.

It was with this aim in view that Oxley, in 1823, set out north,
along the coast to examine the suitability of Moreton Bay, Port
Curtis and Port Bowen. He bassed through Port Macquarie, where
upon his recommendation in 1818 a settlement had been formed,

look at Port Bowen. He thought Moreton Bay a suitable place
for a penal settlement and S0 advised the Governor when he
returned. The settlement was formed the following year. When
at Moreton Bay, Oxley came across a white man, named Pam-
phlet, who was living with the aborigines. He hag been one
of four men who had left Sydney in a boat to seek cedar and had
been blown off their course. They thought they were south
of Sydney—instead of which they were in Moreton Bay. One
of them had died, another disappeared, while Pamphlett and
Finnegan* had lived with the aborigines for seven months.

sailed for fifty miles. To Oxley, the Brishane River was surely
the entrance to the great inland Séa into which the other rivers
he had discovered flowed!**

In the meantime, people were trying to find an €asy route into
Oxley’s Liverpool Plains. One of these was Allen Cunningham
who had accompanied Oxley in 1817 He set out from Bathurst
én March 31, 1823, and proceeded northwards, Early in June
he found what he called Pandora’s Pasg through the mOuntains:
to Liverpool Plains. In 1825 and 1827 he made two more trips

* Finnegan was absent from Moreton Bay when Oxley arrived

#% “The nature of the country and a consideratign of all tTa oip 4
stances connected with the appearances of the river Justity ma e circum- g
taining a strong belief that the source of the TiVer will not b in ente;- E
mountainous country, but rather that it flows frop s50me lake € found in
brove fo be the receptac’'e of those inland streams Crossed |y ;5 Whl('h will
expedition of discovery in 1818." ¥ me during an
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ins,* i m the Hunter River. On the 1827
b t-h? i 1'§:;;gitgllzuglaf:i”ro15 and the mountains to the north
expeg;ﬁn’dlgcgvered the Gwydir, Dumaresq and Condamine
;fvetrs aﬁd the fertile Darling Downs.** i
Others were looking south. On Octobex: 17, 1824, Har;;iufslz
Hume,? who had already done some exploring around ]'3‘a iy
and the Goulburn Plains, and William How!all, a retnedL o
captain, set out with six men from the former’s farm near zz .
George. The purpose of the expedition was to find a route R}' :
land to Westernport. They discovered and crossed the Mur
rumbidgee, Tumut, Hume, Mitta, Mitta, Ovens and Goulburn
Rivers and reached Mount Disappointment—so ngmed becaulsg
they had wrongly imagined that, having climbed it, they wou
be able to see the ocean. On December 16, they reached the
shores of Port Phillip (which they thought was Westernporti)
at a point which the aborigines called Geelong. "I‘hey se1f mllt
on their return journey and reached Lake George in the middle
of January, 1825, i
It was Captain Charles Sturt,it of the 39th Ijegxment, ;mt’
which he arrived in Sydney, in. 1827, who dissipated Ox e%;;
inland sea and found out where the rivers did flow. In 1828(i i
Was given command of an expedition, with Hume as seconfrom
tommand, which descended the Macquarie River.by tboat e
Bathurst, They proceeded down the river until s fgg}::re i
marshes, when they went on by land. On Janl,lary 1, s
discovered the Boganit—or rather the Bogan's cot;t;rsz’nd with
bed was dry. The explorers were almost out of Wad 1;0 e
the temperature 114 degrees in the shade, they hrit] i
their lips with their handkerchiefs after mud had 1?1?1 s
through them. Crossing the Bogan, they went on il
covered the Darling River, at that spot between 70 gnubly bt
Wide. The water between its banks was, however, ki ot.hey s
of bitterness to them. Rushing down to drink of i :
it salt! 4
Sturt proceeded down the Darling until fr.)rcedt b:l(;l:irbﬂ ;:g't‘ o
fresh water. He and his party then returned to

% fnda ey hou

i Bay in 182
= d accompanied Oxley to Moreton
‘*nggginghaﬁn 1828, went by sea to Moreton Bay

there to the Darling Downs. : o
tta, 1797, g 1s b A
11‘ Z][?;lorﬁlzzt gg‘\lrganl::: Darling sent an expedition to rﬁttug Goelm'_li. P
having in mind Hume’s and Hovell's fa.vora.hltg ::;%;ct and the settlem
ditions were not what those reports led him :
i wn. ?
ws;s* sgg?nwlinmgrr;s in Bengal, where his father was a judge
it Which Sturt called New Year's Creek.
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Mt. Harris on the Macquarie, which had by then dried to a serieg
of pools, and struck out towards the north-east, They came

back to it found it only a number of pools! The drought was so
severe that “vegetation seemed annihilated; the largest forest
trees were drooping and many were dead. The emus, with out-
stretched necks gasping with thirst, in vain searched the river
channels for water; and the native dog, so thin that it could
hardly walk, seemed to implore some mercifu] hand to despatch
it.” Further advance was therefore not attempted andg the
expedition returned.* It had found that at least the Maec-
quarie, the Bogan and the Castlereagh did not flow into an
inland sea. It remained to look at the southern rivers and to
complete the plotting of the course of the Darling.

Late in 1829, Sturt, with g well-equipped party which included
three men who had accompanied him to the Darling, set out to
follow the Murrumbidgee. The expedition was equipped with
drays and a whaleboat in sections, On December 25, MacLeay,
second in command of the expedition, wags riding ahead when
suddenly he found that the river had disappeared intg a sea of
reeds. He sent word back to Sturt Who skirted the reeds and

They started out on January 7, 1830, and the same day passed
the junction of the Lachlan with the Murrumbidgee A week
later they were “hurried into a broag and noble riyep rss which

* Before leaving the Darling to return home, Sturt,

crossed the river and pushed on a little way into theHcl;me and two
They found not “a drop of water or a blade of ETass " The

had reached the 'imits of habitation: “we haq jef; all i‘.ra.coe"I o
behind us, and this seemed a desert they never enmred__ts of ¢
bird inhabited hat

others

the wegt, &
umed they
he natives
not even g4

“* “It is impossible for me to describe,” wygtg Sturt
Instantaneous a change of circumstanceg upon yg
allowed to drift along at pleasure, and such wag the for A als were
had been shot out of the Murrumbidgee, that We Wereoca With 3

o
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Sturt called the Murray, but which in its upper reaches had pre-
viously been named the Hume by Hume and Hovell, Now using
a sail they made rapid progress and on January 23, reached the
junction of the Murray with the Darling. They had reason to
remember the point, Drawn up on the banks of the Darling
opposite the entrance of the Murray was “g, concourse of natives
... painted and armed.” They were evidently hostile, but Sturt
nevertheless approached the point and gave the usual peace
signs. He had met aborigines on various occasions going down
the Murray and they had been on the friendiiest terms with
his party, visiting and staying at his camps at night, Seeing
that the natives on this occasion were ignoring his peace signs,
Sturt sheered off down the river. But a sand bank ran out mak-
ing the stream Very narrow and along this the natives swarmed.

" A fight, if not g massacre of the whites, seemed imminent, when

the situation was saved by the timely arrival on the opposite
bank of some blacks who had spent the night before in Sturt’s
camp.,

“As we neared the sand-bank,” Sturt describes the scene, “I
stood up and made signs to the natives to desist; but without
Success. I took up my gun, therefore, and cocking it, had
already brought it down to a level. A few seconds more would
have closed the life of the nearest of the savages; . .. for I was
determined to take deadly aim, in hopes that the fall of one
man might save the lives of many. But at that very moment,
when my hand was on the trigger, and my eye was a{ong the
barrel, my burpose was checked by MacLeay.” He pointed to
the blacks who had arrived on the other bank. One* pl}lnged
into the water and swam to the sand-bank—*“and in an 1n(_:re-
dibly short space of time stood in front of the savage, agamit
Whom my aim had been directed. Seizing him by the throtaé s
he pushed him backwards, and forcing _all who were in the \ga T
upon the bank, he trod its margin with a vehemence tan Inai:j
agitation that was exceedingly striking. At one m(;lmﬂ:i iPO ik
ing to the boat, at another shaking his cler_lched and in s
faces of the most forward, and stam_ping with passion (;nt -
sand; his voice, that was at first distinct and clear, was los

; urs.” At first it seemed to Sturt that vengeance
- t:n u;?:-ned on their dusky advocate but, when he ana
ﬁazllfleayeianded a little further on amongst a group of unarmed

the bank opposite its embouchare, whilst we continued to gaze in silent
e ba

channel we had entered. . . ., We had got
“mﬁghﬁgﬁt r%r;ﬁm:gcﬁpﬁgeu? either to the south coast, or to some im-
on ” %
L av?’ﬁpo%t;sd'nttrmted Sturt’s favorable notice the day before for his
“personal and stature.
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natives, the rest forgetting their anger gathered around them
out of curiosity. In their escape, Sturt saw the “almost miracy-
lous intervention of Providence” but the reader will undoubtedly
see merely the logical result of Sturt's and his men’s humane.
and kindly treatment of the aborigines* on their way down the
Murray. Only when it was over did Sturt realise the danger in
which they had been placed—“there could not have been less
than six hundred natives upon that blackened sward.”

After thanking and giving presents to their preserver, Sturt
pulled for a short distance up the river that the Murray had just
met and came to the conclusion that it was the Darling, which
he had discovered a year before. They then turned around and,
with sail set, proceeded down the Darling and then the Murray
“with a rapidity that surprised even ourselves” and that soon
left the natives behind.

On February 9, the expedition arrived at a sheet of water
which Sturt called Lake Alexandrina. They climbed a hill and
saw the surf in the distance and proceeded across the lake
towards it. The lake ended in muddy flats and a bar that separ-
ated it from the ocean and that prevented the party from leaving
it. They had to return the way they came. On February 13, they
set out. Sturt pays glowing tributes to his men who, almost
exhausted, had to pull up the Murray against wind and current.
Living on bread and water with wild duck when they could catch
it, they rowed from dawn till seven or nine at night, with an
hour’s rest at noon. “The effects of the severe toil were pain-
fully evident,” Sturt tells us; “the men lost the proper and
muscular jerk with the oars. Their armsg Were nerveless, their
faces haggard, their persons emaciated, their spirits wholly sunk.
From sheer weakness they frequently fee] asleep at the oar.”**
Reaching a point 90 miles from the depot, Sturt sent two men
ahead. These returned with a relief barty and provisiong

Bturt’s expedition down the Murrumbidgee, Murray and D
ling was important in several respects, It proveq that the m,g;

* “They are, undoubtedly,” runs Sturt’s o inio: o

met, “a brave and a confiding people, and s.i;e h; r?; :&;nzbor‘glf]es he
natura! affection. . . . Macleay’s exireme good humour hag Wanting in
favorable impression upon them, and I can picture him evenmade a4 most
in their wild song. Whether it was from his entering g l‘ead'lnow’ Joining
mirth, or from anything peculiar that struck them, the im Ly into thejr
the whole of us was, that they took him to have been orj iDres_;;On upon
in consequence of which they gave him the name of Ru_nmg Nally o black,

## In spite of their loya! work and their Whole—hearwd e

Sturt, two of the three convicts returned to their Servitude 0-0peratigy with
ton) recelving a free pardon—in spite of Sturt's S"}"Cita,tin%g One (Glay-

U
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The next explorer with whom we have to do was, in his own
opinion at least, Australia’s greatest. Major (afterwards Sir)
T. L. Mitchell* succeeded John Oxley as Surveyor-General in
1827 and was intensely interested in the exploration and sur-
veying of the colony. But he had a dictatorial manner and g
vile temper which often banished from him any sense of jus-
tice. He would not trust the estimates nor accept the opinions
of others and jealously refused to credit their achievements, until
he had first checked for himself. Cunningham, Sturt and, later,
Leichhardt were small fry beside the mighty Mitchell.**

Mitchell’s first expedition was to the north-west in search of
a river which a run-away convict—George the Barber—reported
he had discovered. He did not find the mythical river, but he
showed that the Namoi and the Gwydirl flowed into the Darling
and discovered the Barwon. This was in 1832, In 1835, he set
out on the expedition to test the accuracy of Sturt’s claim that
the Murray joined the Darling. He made in the direction of
what is now Bourke, losing Richard Cunningham, brother of
Allan, on the way. He was killed by the blacks. Reaching the
Darling, Mitchell found it, not a salt, as Sturt had, but a fresh
water stream. On its banks he built g fort which he named
Fort Bourke, after the Governor, Thence he followed the Dar-
ling for 300 miles and returned, satisfied that Sturt was right.
But next year he doubted again and set out down the Lachlan,
following the Murrumbidgee and the Murray to the Darling, He
proceeded up the last-named river until he Was satisfied again
that Sturt was right.

It was on the Murray that a pitched‘though short—battle
was fought with the aborigines. In the brevious year, on the
Darling, Mitchell had had trouble with the natives who were
beginning to resent the intrusion of the whites into their hunt-
ing-grounds. Now, on the Murray, the whole district seemeq to
have been mobilised against them. Mitchell divideq his men into

it he was to ‘carry on further exploration in Central : :
we shall later glance. In 1838, he traversed the Hum:\ liasit\rrg,l-“;’mat Sthighy
Hume and Hovell had met to Adelaide and showed that their ‘i’ﬂ where
his were the same. Tlver and
* Born in Scotland, in 1792; served in the Peninsular way
teer; Lieutenant, 1813; Captain, 1822; Major, 1826, 85 a volun-
#* He went to the junction of the Darling with the
himself that it was really the Darling that the Murrlff;";'gll;‘lm conyince
satlsfied that Sturt was right. Then, he began to doubt ejd and was
visited the scene. Said Sturt: “In due time he came to the d?: N and re-
tion, which he te'ls us he recognised from its resemblance Puted june-
of it in my first work, As I have since been on the spot, 1 & drawing
say that it is not at all like the place, because it obliges me tﬂm sorry to
only praise 8ir Thomas Mitchell ever gave me.” (Quoteq gfeiect the
Explorers of Australia; p. 77.) v Pavenc:
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two parties—placing one in an ambush and enticing on the
aborigines, who were following them, with the other. As the
natives drew abreast of the ambush, their dogs scented the whites
and gave warning, but those in ambush began firine. Seven
aborigines were killed. This was the beginning of a war which
the blacks continued later to wage on outlying squatters and
settlers who were depriving them of their hunting grounds.
Mitchell left the Darling and proceeded back up the Murray
exploring that river above its junction with the Murrumbidgee.
Crossing the Loddon and the Avoca, he turned to the south-
west and discovered a rich and fertile country which he named
“Australia Felix.” On July 31, he discovered the Glenelg, fol-
lowed it down to the sea and then struck across to Portland Bay,
where he found the Henty brothers who had settled there from
Van Diemen’s Land two years before. Mitchell’s reports, when
he returned to Sydney, revealed the existence of vast, fertile
areas “ready for the reception of civilised man, and fit to b_ecome
eventually one of the greatest nations of the earph.”* An imme-
diate rush began in the direction of his new discoveries. Mit-
chell had prepared the way for the squatters. The cry was
[13 0!”
Sgﬂzh;?;fhgl’s next cry was “Nurthwa'rc_l Ho!” and it echc_)ecl
the purpose of his final exploring expediticn {1345-6). Seelfmg
a route to Australia’s north coast, to Port Essmgton, or a river
that might lead him to an estuary on the Timor Sea, he enterE(‘i
what is now central Queensland by way of the Narran, Balonns :
and Maranoa Rivers. Full of hope he followed the Bey}ando,d u
it failed to prove itself the thread that would lead thl.s mo liern
Theseus out of his labyrinth. He turn.ed back and, dxgcover_ qg
the Barcoo,i transferred his hopes- to_lt. Here, too, his antxgl—
pations were proved false when his lieutenant, E. B. }Il{enne ¥
later proved that the Barcoo was none other than t e upper
reaches of Sturt’s Cooper’s Creek, discuve_red the previous yea:('i.
engaged during 1844-5-6 on his great work of inlan
ol }Nas In the service of the South Australian government,
s 0:1 ‘from Adelaidef in August, 1844, and travelled up the
R - oL d Darling rivers, the centre of Australia being his
Ml']rraiY eanAt a point near where Menindie now is he made for
ggie?oztﬁ-west, crossing the Barrier Range, the site of modern

g SR
:_“ﬁ{ﬁhaﬁ;lhussen had followed the course of the Condamine and Balonne

p lgﬁ:gfnhoﬂsinal name has happily outlived the name, Victoria, that
to the river. \ % . iy
Mgﬁglggditlon -consisted of 13 men, 200 sheep, 11 horses and 30

pullocks.
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Broken Hill and the wealth that lay beneath them. Defyin
the threat of annihilation by one of Australia’s worst sunm;ersg
scarcity of water and a temperature that once reached 132'
degrees in the shade,* the party pushed on until, towards the
end of January, spring water was reached at Rocky Glen. The
did not dare leave there, either to g0 on or to go back, as 10ny
as the drought lasted. Even there the level of the Watmt becami
lpwer and lower. It was not till July that their ears were de-
lighted by what Sturt described as the sweetest music he hag
ever heard: the sound of falling rain, They were now able tg
leave—but one of the party, James Poole, was stricken with
scurvy. The others set out to carry him back to civilisation
but he died after a day’s journey and was buried at what is’
now Mount Pocle, about 20 miles north-west of Milparinka

: They pushed on, establishing another depot at Fort Grey, right
in the present north-west corner cf New South Wales ’I:hence
they travelled west, crossed Strzelecki Creek reacﬁed Lake
Blanche and then returned to Fort Grey. Thei,r next direction
was north-west and, proceeding in it, they crossed the Strzelecki
and Cooper’s Creeks, digging wells on the way to insure a suppl
of water for their return. They reached Sturt’s Stony Deseﬁf—f
sand-hills and sandstone—then fertile regions around Eyre’
Creek, but then again sandstone and sand-hills. Stu tyres
thgt he could not complete his self-appointed tasI; Th it
dition turned back, having reached its furthest nol-th o
tember §, 1845. On the return Journey to Fort Gre onl o
wells they had dug saved them from death. After ot
tempt, this time north, after again cross.ing e
higher up and after a trip up that creek, Sturt
the last time. Conditions were worse l;han e
dried up and it was found that fooq would
summer at Rocky Glen. With what

leaving everything else behind exceﬁtaigzdthzﬁecould gAY, Bl
the Darling, which they reached on Dec-s:l,‘nbery2}mShed g
suffering from scurvy and his eyesight wags almo' - veg
reached Adelaide on January 19, 1846, st gone.  He

turned back for
Ver, creeks were
not suffice for g

In the meantime, explorers and squatter
’ S we i
other parts of the continent and linking the settleaea(menmg up
needed pastures and, as the number of sheep Teas. Sheep

I
and agents of squatters were on the heels of exglgi:f;ssquatters
FEVIEE N o » Or eve

* “The tremendous heat,” wrote Sturt, “had parched 3
Under its effect every screw in our boxes had heen drgyy © Vegetation
and combs were sp.it into fine laminae; . . . our nails bepgm 1™ handles
glass,” T 88 brittle ag

Cooper’s Creek
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anticipated them, as they displayed to eager eyes new fertile
regions. A loose chain of squatters’ stations soon linked the
settled areas of New South Wales with the new settlements on
port Phillip and Australia Felix. In 1839-41, Anpus Macmillan
travelled down the Snowy and Tambo Rivers and discovered
Port Albert. The Pole, Strzelecki, followed him (1840) and ad-
vanced round the coast to Western Port. After the settlement
of South Australia in 1836, the “Overlanders,” driving sheep and
cattle before them, made their way from the Port Phillip settle-
ments to Adelaide. Among these were Bonney, Hawdon and
E. J. Eyre—the last later achieving fame for his intrepidity.

Sturt, on his expedition to seek the centre of Australia, went
up the Darling instead of proceeding directly northward from
Adelaide because he wished to avoid the deserts and swamps
that had prevented Eyre from advancing beyond Lake Torrens.
Eyre had discovered that lake on one of his trips north in 1839.
In the following year he set out to plant the Union Jack in the
centre of Australia, but reached only Mount Hopeless, the name
he gave it furnishing reason for his abandonment of that inten-
tion and a warning to Sturt to proceed up the Darling.* Eyre,
rather than return to Adelaide with his task unaccomplished,
determined to make for the new settlement at Swan River, aim-
img at linking the two young coleonies—South Australia and
West Australia—by a land route. So, from Mount Arden, he set
out to the west.** The South Australian government sent a ship
to Streaky Bay to intercept him and order him to give up the
project. But he refused, preferring to risk disaster to returning
and admitting failure. Only one white member of his party
accompanied him—the others he sent home. The two, Eyre
and Baxter, set out with three blacks from Streaky Bay in

February, 1841.
It was a trip of hardship, disaster and tragedy. Often they

were without water—depending on native wells, holes scraped
in the sand or even dew! Horses and sheep died or were unable
to go on. Baxter paid for his loyalty to Eyre and his insistence
on accompanying him with his life. He was mutdered by two

cks who decamped with provisions, water, guns and

la ;
:.fmtrl::nfhion. Panic almost seized Eyre—he was only 25. “The
frightful, the appalling truth now burst opon me,” he wrote in
hmg jourl';ﬂl: uthat I was alone in the desert. . . . The horrors of

tion glared upon me in such startling reality, as for an
lt::t:;iu:}most to paralyse the mind. At the dead hour of night,

42-3, was also turned baeck from Lake Torrens.
:,’Tn:.m;.'dlimwﬂad 300 miles along the coast from Port Lincoln in 1839,
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in the wildest and most inhospitable wastes of Australia, with
the fierce wind raging in unison with the scene of violence before
me, I was left, with a single native, whose fidelity I could not
rely upon, and who, for ought I knew, might be in league with
the other two, who perhaps were even now lurking about with
a view of taking away my life as they had done that of the
overseer. Three days had passed since we left the last water
and it was very doubtful when we might find any more. Si)é
hundred miles of country had to be traversed before I could hope
to obtain the slightest aid or assistance of any kind.”

But the loyalty of Wylie was beyond reproach and the two of
them struggled on. At Rossiter Bay they encountered a French
whaler and were received on board, where they recuperated. But
Eyre the obstinate would hear nothing of discontinuing the
journey and they pushed on again. On July 7, they reached St.
George’s Sound. The trip was not fruitful of anything beyond
courage and endurance—the coast had already heen explored
by sea.*

But the scenes of exploration were not confined to the south
and the south-eastern corner of the continent. The north and
west coasts were also attracting explorers. Roe, Bannister and
others were becoming acquainted with the south-western corner
around Perth and King George’s Sound, between 1829 and 18361
From 1838 to 1841, Captains Wickham and Stokes, on H.M.S
“Beagle,” were exploring various parts of the north coast includ-
ing the Fitzroy and Victoria Rivers in the north—w,est the
country around Darwin and on the Albert and Flinders Iéivers
in the Gulf of Carpentaria, and George Grey** was looking at
the Glenelg River and the coastal country between Shark Bay
and Perth. And, while Mitchell was setting out to look for the
river that would take him to the north coast, a German seientist
who had arrived in Australia in 1842, was just completin il
3000-mile journey from the Darling Downs g Port Essmgto S
This was Ludwig Leichhardt, whose name ig rememberedg' 4
SBydney suburb and a Queensland county ang has beeom uzha
subject of much romancing because of his unknowp fa.l;ee Ie
October, 1844, he set out on his great journey from the D ‘1' g
Downs, advancing northwards in a course paralle] to the "
The small party were over nine months in Teaching tp Sonss
of Carpentaria.  Leichhardt crossed the Dawson Rivep andeEg;g 4

dition Range, naming them, and followed the course

. Ebibiy Gl st o § of the
* Hyre was later in the public service in South Australia ang New 7,

He was afterwards Governor of Jainedca and died im 1906, : | -

(kb Afterwards Govertior of South-Australia. 0 [ 0 L v, - B

e Y
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Isaacs, Suttor, Burdekin and Mitchell Rivers. From the latter
the coast of the Gulf* was followed around until the Roper
River was reached. Thence the party struck across Arnhem
Land to Alligator River. Port Essington was reached on Decem-
per 17, 1845, a year and two and a half months after the expe-
dition had started.**

In 1846-48, the boundary between knewn and unknown in both
the south-western and north-eastern corners of the continent
was pushed back. Between the Murchison River, on the west
coast, to Russell Range, on the Great Australian Bight, F. T.
and A. C. Gregory and J. S. Roe were making the south-western
ccrner known. In 1847, E. B. Kennedy (who had been with
Mitchell) followed the Barcoo into South Australia to show it
was Sturt’s Cooper’s Creek and, in the following year, landing
at Rockingham Bay, set out from there for Cape York (where a
ship was to meet him) on a journey that was to end in tragedy.

Kennedy’s journey north was one of hardship and disaster.
He had a dozen men with him and they found swamps, tangled
undergrowth, hostile blacks (upen whom Kennedy fired, killing
five) and mountains to impede their progress. A ship was to
meet them with supplies at Prince Charlotte Bay, but as they
were about two months late in reaching there, it had gone and
the party was faced with starvation. With three whites and
a black, Jackey Jackey, who has became famous in the history
of Australian exploration, Kennedy pushed on, leaving the rest
at Weymouth Bay. The three whites were left behind near
Cape Grenville when two of them could go no further.t Ken-
nedy and Jackey Jackey pushed on, but, on December 1, Ken-
nedy fell victim of the blacks’ vengeance for their comrades he
had killed. They had been taking all precautions, for they
knew the blacks were remorselessly following them, even re-
fraining from lighting fires. All the night before the fat.eful
day they sat up and prepared to move on as So0n as dayhgk:t
came. Of what followed we have Jackey Jackey’s acc'(‘)unt‘._ it
fetched the horses and saddled them,” he reported, “then we
went on a good way up the river, and then we sat down a little
while, and Weé saw three black fellows coming along our frack,

arty, Gilbert, was killed, and two badly wounded,
o cfazht:clfed {he party near the Gilbert River,
later expeditions were failures. In December, 1846, he
ith a huge expedition from the Condamine on what it was hoped
set GHL trans-continental journey to Perth. The attempt was a complete y
would be 8 U0 TU8as, he set out again, He reached the Cogoon River
fallure. o of the Balonne) and sent back a despatch., That was the
i trihut w{a ever heard of him or his expedition. :
lu?t é?; pad accidenta’ly shot himself; the other had become lame, . |

+ A me "
the b'acks
thetnl.ejchhardt'i
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horses.” In the evening, “a good many black fellows came behing
in the serub, and threw plenty of spears, and hit Mr. Kennedy
in the back first. Mr. Kennedy saig to me: ‘On Jackey Jackey,
shoot ’em! shoot 'em!” Then I pulled my gun and fired, and
hit one fellow aq over the face with huck shot; he tumbleqd
down, and got up again and again and wheeled right round,
and two black fellows picked him up and carried him away. . ..
I pulled out the spear from Mr. Kennedy’s back, and cut out
the jag with Mr, Kennedy’s knife; then Mr, Kennedy got his
gun and snapped, but the pun woulg not go off. The blacks
sneaked al] along by the trees, and Speared Mr, Kennedy again

the right side.”
Jackey carried Kennedy into the scrub. “I askeq him often,
‘Are you well now? and he said, ‘T don’t eare for the Sspear
wound in my leg, Jackey, but for the other two SPear wounds in
my side and back: I am bad inside, Jackey.’ T tolg him black
fellows always die when he got spear in there; he said, ‘T am

Notes to maps on Pages 375 and 377, s
The six maps on P. 376 serve to illustrate the pr S i
exploration between 1788 and 1875, (v b, 449 0 = Of Australian

MAP 1.—ess than half of the Australian continent
Phillip assumed the Eovernmentship of New South Wales in 1788

itude, yan Diemen’s
as also included in
evacuated durin,
S, settl;menl; Was made jp thg

folk Island was occupied again,
MAP 3.—~The whole continent was annexed when, in 1829
West Austra’ia wag established, The new colony wag g éuﬂ?a,f’ clony of

part of the continent not embraced in New South Wales, - 1t wil] of that
therefore, that all the Australian States, except WA, have g, C.5e60,
out of the original New South Wales. ; ron o EL OBIveq

MAP 4.—Ip 1836, South Australig was founded,
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out of wind, Jackey.! I asked him, ‘Mr. Kennedy, are you going
to leave me?’ and he said, ‘Yes, my boy, I am going to leave
you.” He said, ‘I am very bad, Jackey, you take the books, fIack_ey,
to the captain, but not the hig ones; the Governor will give
anything for them. I then tied up the papers. He then said,
Jackey, give me paper and I will write.” I gave him pa.per and
pencil and he tried to write, and he then fell back and died, and
I caught him as he fell back and held him: and I then turnerj?
myself and cried. I was crying a good _whllg I.H:tll I got well;
that was about an hour, and then I buried him.

The loyal Jackey continued the journey alone, a:‘nd,_ a;, fort-
night later, reached the rendezvous where the ‘“Ariel w;lls
waiting. “Murry murry glad” he was to he taken on board: ’11" i
ship set out to find those left behind, The three ?vho were las
left were not found and of those Who had remained at Wey-
mouth Bay there were only two survivors. ‘

The rest of the story of Australian exploration must bi qulcokly
told. By the middle of the century less than h?.If qf tl’;;e ceal;;
tinent had been explored. Fron: thz J?:gr;?rgi;rgge;luzhe 31 -

st Cape in the west an
;?mbizit?ovgﬁe Big];m in the south only a huge blantk gci)ulgl j;'?
shown on the map of Australia. th much was done 0 i:nf i
= L b tl}:ed ,gff:llisinagﬁfr bl;rogﬂgzigsloratmns
i shed ba

];? ?&“Ilz.:-st:ﬁ 1:1111 eI;v5is't fxfrfsgg—s, A. C. Gregory lar;ded or;ht};e; %)aa.ft

i en 100 and 200 miles sou -
(\;rfhf Ol;t;‘l;;nhix:u:g; l;iulzih:: far as Sturt's Creek, then retraced

H t
idian; on the north, the 26th parallel; on the west,
e n mcli‘sgnmm:;‘cflllizn;irmﬂgﬂment left a narrow stl'._ip betwee?ths.:é
the 152nd meridi ears later, another settlement was begun in the Fod T
A inatan. Tt pas Absisen v iy In 1840, New Zealanc as
e Essmgton.the contro. of the Governor of New South Wt rfsfnent, L
brought under it became a separate colony, In 1846,_5."5% tEGladstone
Tt o ik SO e i) o & "ot d i at Gladstone
mede i At ‘a penal settlement, since transportation to N&w. K
propojedﬁ?ﬂ;ﬂﬂﬂl::m boundary was to be tll;f 26th parallel and i

e came to nought. r >
extend RN m:hg lgc{f‘tml?mnlp district became a separaégdcolmg,; u&det:t
Nak 5-*%?111::1:14?:.'51:{ "The Victorians wanted the Murrumbidgee

the name V o

8 Murray.

: ] : as final y fixed (in 1855) at the %
northern -b‘?““"“}’sb‘fﬁeuﬁﬁmiary ‘of Vietoria was fixed an% o:?ia‘;?‘;g{e i
= A 6'_3{4'::2 D’iemen's Land became Tasmania, Nor_fo ind ps :
of that Je, S etion .of V.O.L. to that of N.S.W. W
from, the jFu;rn the colony of Queensland was separ ] o B
i i ) h::gghm _“Being e, RMhthp&rﬂat}ilzg g:gaﬁ:; ;estfleir southern
its southern bol Silitndars wady' the O . o n
?nerldlan. 'L%aér%“emjhus now in two sgga_ratedﬂ;i,ar;s.wa il el
ﬁomuhdﬂ%) hi-‘llhiﬁ;mmé i o “tgg, :::f:gi?onsfﬁhtagr the north of W.A.

R . creal a the n¢ .
1’55%"”1%%&111 to k:al ;‘:.med Albert, came to -nu:nlns.-...m.t fid
and North
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_In 0ctol?er, 1860, Robert O’Hara Burke and William John
Wllls,* having come across country from Melbourne left Menin-
die on the trans-continentay expedition that stanés boldest in
Australia’s memory and that endeq in disaster., That disaster

e
* Burke was an ing to ice
oy Pector of the Mounted Police in Vietoria ; Wills was g
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MAP 9.—The western boundary of @
in 1862, to where it now is—at the 138th meridian,

MAP 11.—In 1901, the various Austral i ueenslang
Commonwealth of Australia, Papua (N::: CGO}flfriLeas)were Tederateq iy, ‘the
monwealth territory in 1908, Was proclaimeg Com-

MAP 12.—In 1911, the Northern Territory was t;
the Commonwealth government, Today, it 1s dlvld:gel?xtgvg fom B.A. b
ritor  ustralla. In 1914, Norfolk Island also became Commor ! 81d Cen-
ritory j;!r:d after the war the former German colonies of NeolPealth Ter.

e arck Archipelago passed into the POSSESsion of the a:m(::linea and

NOTE.—The abo Onwealth,
s ve maps and notes have been based on g R, Crampg
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Burke and his associates followed the Diamantina some dis-
tance and then struck north until they reached the Cloncurry.
They followed this to the Flinders, which they thought was the
Albert, tasted salt water, but did not reach the sea. Two of
their three months were almost gone as they turned to go back.
They were not a happy family and there were quarrels*—once
when Gray was found taking more than his allowance of flour.
He was sick and weak, he said, but Burke accused him of
malingering. Gray, however, soon proved that Burke was wrong
Byadyine. . ..,

On April 21, 1861, the other three reached Cooper’s Creek—just
over four months after they had left it. The depot was deserted!
William Brahe, who had been told to stay there three months
and had stayed there four— (he had left on the morning of the
very day the three returned)—had, according to Burke’s illogical
complaint, abandoned them. But Brahe had done all he could—
his food was giving out, the rest of the party had not arrived
from Menindie and Burkd was over a month overdue. He could
do nothing else but hide some food for Burke. The latter fol-
lowing the directions—DIG—cut in the bark of a tree found
the Hidden food and the small party was saved. Had Wills and
King insisted on the proposal they put forward—of immediately
following Brahe—all would still have been well, But Burke in-
sisted they were in no condition to go on and advised recu-
perating where they were, then following Cooper’s Creek down
to Mount Hopeless and thence reaching the settled parts of
South Australia. They remained at the depot for five days and
then set out. Their two camels were lost—one was bogged and
killed, the other died—food gave out and they decided to return
to the depot. While they were away Brahe had returned and
had seen no trace of the three. The latter, when they returned,
did not know that he had been back. Wills buried their books

at the depot, left a note, and they tried to live as the blacks
lived—on nardoo seed. But they cculd not live on the food that

sufficed the aborigines. Wills and Burke died in June. King
was kept alive by the blacks until he was found by a relief party
on September 15. Thus had a costly expedition led, as the
result of the obstinacy and unfitness of its leader, to nothing

but disaster.
Nothing but disaster—in itself. But the relief expeditions

hat went out in search of Burke were responsible for the
gxf;loration of much of Queensland. A. W. Howitt led the party,
had already quarre’led with Landells, who had been in charge

a1
;‘ﬂﬂm::nm. pefore he left Menindie.
(1]
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and returned in g south-easterly direction and down the Queens-
land coast back to Rockhampton. McKinley left Adelaide ang
reached the Albert River, by way of Cooper’s Creek ang the
Diamantina, ang thence passed through northern Queensland
to the Burdekin. William Landsborough, similarly, leq an expe-
dition northwards to the Albert ang thence back through centra]
Queensland.

Thus by 1862 most of the eastern half of the contfinent had
been explored. In the meantime, too, P, Gr'egory had been
explering around the Fortescue River (W.A), in 1861, and John
Maecdouall Stuart had (1859-62) been making Centra] Australia

Range and Daly Waters. In 1872, the overlang telegraph fol-
lowed Stuart’s route across Australia,

rest, later Australia’s first and only “lord,” carrieq out important
work. In '1869, he was around Lakes Mocore and Barlee: in the
the following, he did Eyre’s trip in the OPposition direction_

ens in 1874. In 1875 he set out from Adelaide f.

: , or Perth

o_ute t.hat ran paralle] to the shore of the Bight but aboutbs?f()g
niles inland. From Perth, he Proceeded nortp to Geraldton
hence north-east ang west across West Australia, o 4

Later explorers have been Favenc (in Norther,
n A
1d 1883); A. Forrest (north-west of W.A., 1879) gy

* Which Stuart himself namegd Mount Sturt, “af

leemed Commander of the Expedition in 1844'an?'1 bf:;‘isr{l'y i elent and
1on Jack there, happily unwitting of the dark chapte, that o, sed the
" the ahorigines and that was to mock the hope he EXPregsed ¢ 45 to open
Fistinge,” 280 1o the natives that the tawn i) i, the flag
Tistianity is about to break upon them,” ' Tsation ang
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North, West and Central Australia, 1883 and 1891-2); Wells and
carnegie (in central West, Australia, 1896); Hann and Brockman
(in Kimberley in 1900 and 1901); and so the era of the pack-
horse merges into that of the aeroplane, whence accurate and
rapid surveys may be made of land on which the surveyor may
never set foot.

2.—VAN DIEMEN’S HELL.—The activities of the French in
Australian waters around the beginning of the 19th century
aroused apprehension in the minds of British Ministers and East
India Company directors,* They certainly did not wish to see
France appropriating any part of the Australian continent, even
though they themselveg did not then have the appetite to swallow
it whole** Lijeutenant Robbins in the “Cumberland” was sent, in
1802, to keep an €ye on Baudin and to prevent his annexation
of any Australian territory. As a result, Baudin, who said he
knew of no French intention of forming a colony, was amazed,
while on King Island, to receive a visit from Robbins, who gave
him a letter from King and, then, landed some marines, hoisted
the Union Jack over the heads of the bewildered Frenchman
in such haste that it was flying upside down, fired a volley and
led his marines in three cheers, Baudin described it as a childish
ceremony, but King Island, at least, had been made safe for the
British bulldog, even though he intended using it only as a
manger.

King’s next move was to establish a settlement in Van Diemen’s
Land. He sent Lieutenant Bowen with a party of convicts to
the Derwent, where he established himself at Risdon, in Sep-
tember, 1803. In May of the previous Year, King had writ?en
home conveying to the government his suspicions ?lerench in-
tentions and suggesting a settl_ement at qut Ph'llhp. As the
government shared those suspicions and as it c}esxred _to estab-
lish a new penal settlement a_w_ay frgm Sydney, it lost little time
’ i ding to send an expedltllon direct from England to settle
gL y d to instruct King to send another to Port Dal-
iy Phlllipj anbenant-Colonel Collins, who had been Judge-
rymple.t l:ilniil:ar Phillip, was selected for the command of the
?:g;;;ign to Port Philip, which set sail from Portsmouth on

QT b
+ See ahove, DR 20 o i el at the question slightly differently. He
®* gir Josel’hmf“;ﬁ:m part of New Hol'and “open to the enterprise of
favored leaving tions who may venture in times of peace to make a settle-
any Europeat Blo O hioral certainty of its getting into ous hones i Ly
ment theré, rica, India and South Africa, we might add, out of the
of war/—As B anner of British gains in which. countries wrs oo
knowledge Of ° = : P '
Banks's cyniolsm:
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April 26, 1803, Dissatisfied, however, with Port Phillip g4 a st
’ e

for a settlement, * Collins did not remain the i
Permission from King to transfer hig chargerse :;]n\%éI]HDe~§alned
%ﬁ nd, aﬂ]d joined Bowen at Risden in February, 1804, gq, o chS
€re only a few days and then moved 3 A o i
si'te Qf the modern Hobart.** Three monf;th Cl);ief’ht;(ir;ivgi- LO_the
his Instructions anent Port Dalrymple, He se1'1t Liiz tecewed
C@onel Paterson, of the New South Wales Corps who }I e
his settlement _(November, 1804) a site that h'e lmmcFlose 0
'.lj'own, In March, 1806, however, he moved up the Tacm d ¥
site of the modern Launceston. By 1804 therefore tl i
two smal] colenies in Van Diemen’s Landﬂ,—one in th,e oty
the other in the north—each under the control of g Liiomh o
Governor, subordinate to the Governor ip Sydney Thm-enant‘
;lsbc:.st u_ndtlé;l ;ne Lieutenant~Governor, with hea.dquaret}v;r: E;,(:
; dn » and, in 1825, i
pendegt of New South Wales. bf)cr? n}:niasfypalraggsgmgny! "
Van Diemen'’s Land wag changeq to Tasmania’ S e

Van Diemen’s Land was indeeq
= a i i
of that island would want forgotten, o Sl . mhabxtants

hen into which convicts w n
: Were Poured a W y
the apprepriate tOI'IIlE!l‘ltS. It was 'alasr da]sghirhz 2::8 e
’ . e

gone 5 0 Of @ Whole peope, Whetever the yp4. man ha
5

N Dieman's 1anq.
0 the overfioyw of
1 OPpositjoy to the
413 ang oyt Aus-
Otles to put into
€ Promoters,
d in relation
of squatter-

* Bee below, Section 5 of thy
-, ) 8 Chapter,
So-called after Lord Hobart, then Becreta:y for tp,
e 0010:11,._
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In 1827, the Swan River* Was explored hy Captain James
stirling, who reported Very favorably of the so0il and harbor
facilities. The government refused to colonise, but S0me capi-
talists became interested%including Thomas Peel, g cousin of
Sir Robert Peel. Their Plan was that 10,000 people should he
sent out to West Australia at their own expense, They were to
be granted 40 aecres for every £3 they brought into the colony.
There was to be no limit tg the grants. Peel, for example, was
to get a quarter of a million acres if he landed 400 immigrants
before November 1, 1829, No convicts were to be sent out.

In December, 1828, Captain Fremantle was sent out in advance.
He took possession of West Australia on May 2, 1829, Stirling
was appointed Governor and he landed at Swan River on June
18, 1829. With land so cheap and the reports so glowing, hun-
dreds of settlers soon arrived—with the result that there was
an acute food shortage. The muddle of the first years almost
spelt the end of the colony, and for many years very few

settlers arrived and Drogress was slow.

4.—WAKEFIELD'S DISCOVERY.—Edward Gibbon Wakefield,
who had a pleasant hobby of abducting and marrying young
heiresses, was, in 1827 and following years, improving his mind
in Newgate Gaol, during the leisure hours that were then per-
force his in abundance, by reading about the Australian colonies.:
The title of this section is taken from a sarcastic reference by
Karl Marx** to Wakefleld’s “discovery.” “It is the great merit
of E. G. Wakefield,” wrote Marx, “to have d1309vered, no‘t any-
thing new about the Colonies, but to have c.hscovered in ?he
Colonies the truth as to the condi.tions of capitalist p‘roductmn
in the mother-country.” That “dlscoxfery“ was that “property
in money, means of subsistence, machines and o.theF means of
production, does not yet stamp a man as a capitalist if there
be wanting the correlative—the wage-worker, the‘other man
) elled to sell himself of his own free-will. He djs-
bt c;;mtpcapit.al is not a thing, but a social relation between
sordrdel Et blished by the instrumentality of things.” While
Perfoiiues aét land cheaply, could produce for himself, “capital
man could g and the capitalistic mode of production are impos-
accumulatl!)l';ass of wage-laborers, essential to these is wanting.”
sible. S cof Wakefield’s theory was the necessity of creating
Thiess?:rll:; by means of dear land and the systematic impor-
such a

discovered, it will be remembered, by the Dutchman, Viamingh;
* It was

see “}’n""'ﬁi.'?’alﬁitﬂl-" Vol. 1, Chap. XXXIII,
- L
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tation into the colonies of men who had no money to buy
land and who would have to work for those who had.
Wakefield embodied his views in a little book, “A Letter from
Sydney,” published in 1829. He had powerful friends—amongst
them Lord Durham and Charles Buller (both of them of fame
in Canadian political history) and Earl Grey—and a coloni-
sation society was suggested. In 1834, a “South Australian Ass0-
ciation,” inspired by Sturt’s discoveries, was formed, and, with
the aid of backers in parliament (many of whom were in the

Association), the South Australian Act wags Passed. Land was .

to be sold at not less than 12/- an acre and the proceeds were
to form an Emigration Fund to finance the necessary emigra-
tion. A Board of Commissioners, eight in number, was to con-
trol the financial side and a Governor was to be appointed by
the government, which was eémpowered to take over the colony
if it were not a success within twenty yearsthe measure of
success being a population of 20,000. Captain Hindmarsh was
made Governor. No convicts were to be sent out,

The advance party of the new colony left England in May, 1836
under the surveyor-general, Colonel Wm, Light. The first land-
ing was on Kangaroo Island, but Light was not satisfied and
sought another site. Finally, he chose one on the River Torrens
which flows into St. Vincent’s Gulf. When Hindmarsh arrived
in December he objected to that bosition but he wag over-
ruled and the new colony of South Australia continued its history.

5—~PLACE FOR A VILLAGE.—We have already seen Lieu-
tenant-Colonel Collins sent out from England, ag the result of
information and advice sent by Governor King, to founq a settle-
ment at Port Phillip. He arriveq there in October, 1803, in
command of an expedition of two ships, the “Caleutta and,the
“Ocean,” which brought out between 300 and 400 convicts* and
a few free settlers. A landing was made about eight miles
inside the heads of Port Phillip, to the eastward, neay where
Sorrento now stands. “As if to impress the black natives with
a high idea of British discernment and DErseverance » later sa.r-_
castically commented the Sydney “Colonist,»«x “the :
dard was hoisted and the settlement formeg on the

sterile land within the heads.” But it seems evident ¢ g © et

hat the reason

with them. One such was John Fawkner who had with hipy his

Pascoe Fawkner—then a boy of eleven but destined (o baog son, John

founders of Melbourne. me one of the
** August, 1886, quoted by Bonwick: Port Phillip Settlemen -
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for Collins’s choice was its nearness to the heads_w_-his removal }'1:0
Diemen’s Land would, as a result, be facilitated! F(?rA e
X:g no desire to settle at Port Phillip. He aimed at renfna{nzﬁs
there only long enough to get approval from S;{dneythm =
transference to Van Diemen’s Land. In the meantlmet, Ph?n‘;v
to be done was to collect unfavorable }'eports of Por o i -%he
There was a lack of fresh water, Collins reported to !rilg’tion
soil was poor and so was the timber; shegls made na; ggemg
dangerous, and the pioneers thf':re were in dal;lngetghg Pl oo
wiped out by numerous and hostile savages! Tt us s
find excuses for abandonment of the settlemen fa?he pévas
tenants, knowing the desire that was fathe; c;{ i Deput.y—,
helped in the finding. Lieutenant Tur.:key, L 'Governlo bzt
Surveyor, and William Collins, a relative of the i cor;ﬁrmed
ing around the Port, made a per_functgry surveyl'aShed g g b
their instinctive aversion and, in doing so, €

i of
Their exaggeration of the numbers and ferocity

aborigines. sed

her that already posses.
b 'addEd at-I(l}e;IreE‘flf:itﬁ)atthtiemconvicts would rise at ax;;;
i Lmurendm;verwhelm his own marines, those and ifhe c:‘evpvort
El%msg;liﬂtta” (whose captain he begged t(_) I;mﬁalgle:e el
Phillip) and the civil patrol he ‘had orgaﬁl}zes Jsucceeded oo
istol ass-words and countersigns. ( 0. e
g terrifying himself. The Australian bush a e
thosii d him and he needed a big force‘to stan ke
ﬁ?rlrlniz:;si St(;iereconvicts. ‘He was not haxl)é)y ug::)::lltﬁe \;;algs ecorps
i ; the New
Derw:ﬁti(\:;lli%rea:dditsc&r: e:r;yoihere, he rejected the port of
was ,

i ships!
it was difficult for
eston—because ; ;
e william Collins set out with desp&at‘r;cht::1 g tfxgn
poat with six convicts. They reached

i the “Ocean,” which left a week
il st I};lii:e‘ja?;ezg on the transference ftotr;;asr_:
later. Governor q sent ships to assist in the work o e
Diowment JAEE ia;ilnuary 30, 1804, Collins left F’ort Ph11:11§;;11 i
pRRAlE Ond;']ed- convicts in the charge of Lleutenzfn e of
He Oveirv:dh:? R I\?[‘Ebr;f ryoilﬁl‘y c;f;]:eerrfan remained

T o : . .

gfe ;ort et sgﬂ;crlse;?f; ?:rcl»nvic{ wh? escapqd. an;ietl;\’r;:n w&t
betuind WA forming a link

§ ears, i i
the aborigines f0° ;l‘r‘fntinim - thp AMtilemAnh 6b Ylscfxl:'?eas;or-

i and pefore Collins’s arrival at Port Phillip, board the
Nearly & Y64 B 0 gone there from Sydney, on

General aﬂ:}f ® ommanded by Lieutenant Robbins. He dis-

c:cumbﬁ_ﬂm

In November,
Sydney in an Open
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covered the _mouth of the Yarra on February 13, 1804, and
:gyed the site of Melbourne. They had found’ the ’abor' s
hnendly and recommended a settlement on the Yarra C(l)glgll‘neS
RO‘E?BF’ had left Er}gland before Grimes’s report reacfled thn}s’
b; Gl;ls. together with Lieutenant Oxley, was sent south ageali;
vernor King in 1804. They got no' T
: 3 urther than
E)\:‘;azll;w\:}t;h:ﬂ both condemned, Robbins comparingwiet;StS;n
it e Yarra site and Oxley condemni :
region. Nothing, therefore, was don il Rl
¢ : e further towards planti
;us;ﬁt;tlzgn;néoonnthehsouth coast until after the expedlztit;l;l%%
vell. They had favorable re
belief that they had reached W e e
estern Port, instead of Port illi
3 Ph
?;edf;hat' conseciuent]y, the fertile regions discovered werelll:la‘Iz
o n;;nex‘; glace le_d_to the establishment of a settlement there
.y Ne: Sooz;t;] Phillip. The reports attracted squatters** both
coroi . uth Wales and Van Diemen’s Land, but it was the
- ingu(?EdFéench and Arperican ships in Australian waters
B overnor Darling to send expeditions to Wester
B 13212g feorge’s Sound, too.) They left Sydney '1;
; ; fter hesitating becaus i
o : : e of conflicting r
setctll ::]r;ililt_mg with the home authorities, Darling with%irte?c"ullﬂats
in January, 1828, when the danger of foreign set,tlee

m
ent had passed. In 1827, he had refused g grant of land at

Western Port to John Batman and J. T. Gellibrand

The southern coasts of Australia we i
5 ‘ re again left ¢
u?f g::lﬁd“{hf, with headquarters in Lamlcestgnth;:iar‘llferg
iows. i islands bet‘:veen Tasmania and the n,‘lain land
oo kfe wgre the Mills prothers, and William Dutto- i
i s. 1utb0n established himself at Portland Bn'm'ld
brou.wrs Jar,n;n JBLLS, he was visited by Edward Henty ;13-;1 it
- oo 'f'homa, S,HO n and Stephen, had been sent out b thre'ﬁl
Austra,lia, in 18529 emiy’ 2 banker and farmer of Sussex ty ont
gy ohepe p I?lsapp?mted there, they determined, '0 e
e in Diemen’s Land. Henty himself with) % = 2
—_ thﬂmn A hree other sons, Charles, Edwa;‘d a o
s g rz:. Lagnceston. Fa_ailing to obtain from tlxlld s
RN S Oneexc ange for his 80,000 acres in Wes.t’3 ALt
remaining son, Stephen, stayeq o
Edward to South Australia on a tour of in’vest'ye ')’
I;e was on anchored in Portland Bay on its :egtatm
e was attracted to the site. After hesitatin o
to West Australia to see for himself, HEntygﬂir;,(lil

Henty sent
n. The ship
Voyage and
after a visit
¥ decided to

* See above, p. 365.
** See next Chapter.

‘encouraged by Hume's reports
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settle at Portland Bay. In November, 1834, the family landed
there, and, on several subsequent trips, their ship, the “Thistle,”
prought sheep, cattle, pigs, seeds, poultry and laborers. Four of
the brothers settled there, the other three remaining in Tas-

mania.
In the following year, the foundations were laid of a perma-

nent settlement in the Port Phillip area and the city of Mel-
pourne. John Batman,* in spite of his rebuff in 1827 and
and the example of the Hentys
in squatting without permission, determined to follow their
example—with the unofficial encouragement of Governor
Arthur, who thought that Port Phillip should be under his con-
trol, not that of the Governor of New South Wales. A syndicate
was formed** and, early in May, 1835, Batman left Launceston
in the “Rebecca” for Port Phillip, which, however, .he was,
through bad weather, nearly three weeks in reaching. He

thought to give legal sanction for his approp_ria’t.ign of the haélld
on which Melbourne now ing” it all from the

stands by “purchas
aborigines. Gellibrand, wh had drawn up 2

o was a lawyer,
document for him pefore he left Launlcesion_ a.?d nown he got
the “chiefs” he found on the Yarra to “51g1’1’ his “treaty, g;-an;;
ing him «gpout 600,000 acres more or 1€ss. T Thg payniir;m: g
to consist of plankets, tomaha?vks, knives, ScissOrs, g
glasses, handkerchiefs, flour, shirts—some as

an initial pay-
ment and more as an annual rent.t Having selected a spot
which “will be

the place for a village,” Batman returned t((;
Launceston, leavin on, on Indente

g a small party in possessi

Head. : i ok
in Parramatta in 1800 and in 1820 hal gone to

* Balmas was IS0 i rant of land near Ben mond.

nere G2 o il fight against bushrangers he

b i ” 'his
on them as @& “much injured’ people. T
(e t:?:mg the part of a leader in thstwhia.r Mo%ﬁf;'-
did nob Pré/ however, and attempted to catty out his pr ]
mination. He prgﬁeﬂs:dbbrigines. segregate them from the whites and pro-
i ound-up and segregation merely hastened their

:gc;oum;lnupThe resulting T
! Q.
terminatio Batman, J. T. Gellibrand, C. Svenston, V. U
e‘K“ Gﬂngﬁmg.f oéoggll'gan, James Simpson, Thos. Bannister, John gm Oll);lilr-
sams, J: #% thur (ephew of the Governor), M. Connolly, John Sinclair,
cot, HENIY g dge, Anthony Cotterill and Geo. Mercer. i
John Helder B oo 'were prepared in triplicate and copies left W
1o %Sﬁ‘g latter signed their names with marks that all B.ppeﬁ.rB e
"M'f;d their names Were written alonﬁaide: Jagajaga, Cooloolock, Bun
same ; lokap and Mommarm f.
garie %‘“{t“ﬂﬁ at apny Cate be said for him, was willing to pay some=
i ﬂ"ﬁmfg placks for the land he took. No other appropriator ever
thing ¥ ©
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In the meantime, Johy Pascoe Fawkner* and others, of Laun-
ceston, desirous of getting away from the tyranny of officialdom
in Van Diemen’s Land, were casting their eyes towards Port
Phillip. On July 29, Fawkner set out on the “Enterprise,”++ but
stormy weather made him 50 seasick that he put back to port
and the ship went on without him. The company made for
Western Port, examined it and then went on round to Port
Phillip. They were warned by Batman’s representative that

day they went exploring. As a result of their discoveries, the
“Enterprise” was soon moored in the Yarra near where the
Customs House now stands. A day or two later they were again
warned that they were on Batman'’s land—this time by John
Helder Wedge, formerly assistant surveyor-general in Van
Diemen’s Land, but then surveying for Batman., Again the

a number of acres between the sites of King and William Streets
were cleared, ploughed and sowed with wheat. With this cul-
tivation and the mud huts put up by the small party, the city
of Melbourne was begun. The story of the conflicts of the two
parties will be told in a subsequent chapter,

6.—SQUATTERS’ QUEENSLAND.—_The first settlement in what
is now Queensland was made at Moreton Bay, in 1824, as a penal
station. The convicts were, however, withdrawn from there in
1839. Gladstone, as we have already seen,f put forward plans
for the establishment of a convict colony in northern Queens-

paid its origin_a_.l owners for their land. . The annua! rent promised would
have amounted to about £200. 1t is a melancholy reflection to TR
that that £200 a year would be of considerable value to the descendants

* Born in London in 1792, he had accompanied his father
receiving stolen goods, to Port Phillip in 1803, He became
to official circles, often helping runaway convicts, In 1814, he helped some
prisoners to escape, was caught and deported to Sydney, Later he went to
Hobart, had a farm alongside his father's, mortgageq and lost it, hecame
a baker and then went to Launceston. There he was in turp /
seller, timber merchant, landlord of the Cornwal] Hotel ang publisher and
editor of the “Launceston Advertiser.” He gaineq 2 reputation gg g “bush
lawyer,” often clashed with officialdom and always took tne 5
people against it—pleading before magistrates and wielding

** In addition to Fawkner, there were “John Lancey,
Samuel and Wil'iam Jackson and Robert Hay Marr, car:enr&&fsh;ng‘fiﬁ%r'
ers and George Evans, a plasterer,” and some servants ang laby k'
(Turner: History of Victoria, Vol 1, pp, 118-19), e

t Bee above, p. 379,

, sentenced for
bitterly hostile
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d, when New South Wales refused to have any more convicts.
Eﬂ 15347 such a colony was established at Port Curtis but was

i wh. :
laﬁgcewﬁ?cig?ia, Queensland was rapidly over-run by the S?t:u?l:—
St B e S

ing north towards the end o e : - o
il:tig established themselves on the DarlmgB DOW?iesessgﬂat-
olony of squatters centred around Moreton Bay. ; el L
: anted cheap labor and were, therefore, anxious T
E:.II‘;OI"T from New South Wales, when the pe_ople O'f'h ?;rd?:geived
decidedly refused to receive any mmr‘er co:;vel;lts.” o e
with open arms the convicts.on the Hasl iyr;mported Sl
had refused permission to land, aé%moc:l t-::;g ian Sci:his L e o
All Queenslanders wanted zi;;a;‘ﬁel Tt che i Sealemonth
e A R have convicts and the squat-

of Brisbane refused to hn
?en;'i gce);l;efiifeated. Separation from New South. Wa

come till 1859.

¥ e Yy E=
= of hi entur » ther
i AUSII‘ALIA. BY about the nllddle the c
for (=5 there were SIX Austrahan c0101118$, inde pendeni of eacl
other alld to be ivides for dec des .

d d I a b&’ nlutual ealousies There

il OOy Yoo 08 1% t till 1901 that
was practic g rriers dividing them. It was no L
even customs ba tence begun &S 3 unity,

the continent, its CiVili?da;:Iig_partial because there are still

: partti?ll'gglii:‘cipczlivlilc{:tand sectional interests perpetuate deve-
mn . s
?;;Igents of the peritr)l(:i I(}J:nglﬁ:gng; i B et ki a‘;‘:
the co : : 74 yeR
ko Km;fa(ljii while to most Eng!lshmt':lfl gv?n'ags 1ftort If;anime S
L ' les. The honor o :
South, B o tedly used the name
merely New to Flinders, who repea P
le. belEl ing the first decades 0
Australia be ks. Gradually, during B
his Do g ja** came into general use
throughout me Australia** ca e
ot S s ana nenes o e T R
e i-transportatio:
our Dpeop ted in the anti

uni ]

when they of convictism.
the doom

sounded &

N.S.W. in 1851 _
mﬁﬁﬁdﬁ&nﬁm to the first recorded use of the name
{)age 44, foot of second column.




Chapter XI

CLASS STRUGGLES AND PROGRESS

Al_‘.ld all the denizens of He]]

ith one Tope pealed the greatest hel]
T_hat ne'er was known to sound or ring
Since Judas solg our Heavenly Kip

V1 sense,” crieq Satan, “I'm depri'véci.
Since Governor Darling hags arrived.”

—Frank the Poet.t,
1.—A Shackledq Press; 2.—Publie Opinion tp be Hearqd; 3.—The Sudds

Case; 4—Exclusive Legislative Council: 5.—War opn the Blacks:

6.—Roasted Bullocks and 1m h = -
T iy Impeac ment; 7.—-Eanks, 8.—The Squatters:

against townsman, immigrant against all—ang
aboriginal: the fight for a free Press, trial p

1.—A SHACKLED PRESS.—Australa’s first news

2 . .- ¥SPaper wag the
Sydney Gazette ang N.S.W. Advertiser,” whjcy Was begyp by

! Notes to this Chapter are at the end of Book II7,
302
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George Howe in 1803.* Even if itg Publisher hag desired to be
critical of the successive Governors, it could not have reflected

In Macquarie’s time broofs were sent to the Governor's secretary,
J, T. Campbell,* who, once, however, took advantage of his posi-
tion to have a libel on the Rev. Marsden printed in the
“Gazette.”** Pregs censorship was, of course, only one aspect of
the repressive measures against freedom of speech. We have
already seen King animadverting against the alleged taint of
“democracy” on some of the settlers and Macquarie charac-
terising the drawing up of a petition to the House of Commons
as seditious. The former gave orders against petitions and peti-
tioners designed to prevent “seditious and ill-disposed persons
going about getting up petitions signed by the eredulous ;and
unwary for the most destructive purposes”:* the latter e:::ercxsed
complete control over public meetings. Both were eqhmng the
repressive measures of the government at home against com-
i i “seditious” meetings.
blr’li‘it;m;iuanr?gor of the law was felt especially by .workers
who attempted by strike action or by forming a union to increase
their wages or to better their conditions. In 1822, for e?cample,
in the early part of Brisbane's ter_m of oﬂice,.a conviet _was
charged at Liverpool with endeavgrmg to organise a combina-
tion of his fellow workmen to raise wages and increase their

tions. Their “master admitted that he had agreed to pay
o £15 a year and a premium of £5 and 2/6 for every lamb
&8 me:r;oo in a flock of 350 ewes, but alleged that he had given
:]_E;‘;eg 1b. of flour and 7 lb. of meat per week, which wag above

i Gazette had this “Address” to the reader:
* Iniiss sk mthug ghh:t&cles were which threatened to oppose our
“‘Innumerable 5” are happy to affirm that they were not insurmountable,
undertaking yelt‘:lexe task before us.—The utility of a paper in the Colony,
however difficy a source of solid information, wi'l, we hope, be universally
as it must inowledged. We have courted the assistance of the Ingenious
felt and mg-——we open no channel to Political Discussion, or personal
and Inte .__Information is our only purpose; that accomplished, we
sider that we have done our duty, in an evertion to merit the -
us '-m,,f the Public and to secure a liberal patronage to the Sydney
DIl
_Gazette, 5.3.1803 ; e
? attack on Marsden's honesty as agent of the Chur
ﬂ[,,;cm.; ”fa criminal case was proceeded with against Campbell,
"‘Pmt for damages, which Marsden won., It was undoubtedly
trials that the official control and censorship of the press

' their force,
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The convict servant admitted the
tended that he and his fellows had
that they were always in their
ived even a penny in money.
d an exemplary sentence: soli-
water for a month, 500 lashes
the rest of his sentence!

quarie issued a proclamation designat-
e people held without authority an
ng that no public meeting should
sent. Such consent might
f a requisition signed by at leas
rnor gave his consent - the Provost-
eting and preside thereat!® With
the only newspaper and the only
any public meeting,

the stipulated allowance.
additional rations, but con
peen charged at such prices
master’s debt, and had not rece
Nevertheless, the convict receive
tary confinement on br
and penal servitude for
In November, 1813, Mac
ing any meeting of six or mor
unlawful assembly and orderi
take place without the
be obtained by means 0
householders.
Marshal was to call the me
the Governor in control of
printing pres
adverse critl

Governor’s con

If the Gove

s and having power to prohibit
cism of the regime could take the form only of
secret meetings and “pipes.

2, _PUBLIC OPINION TO B
marked by the lifting of the offici
lishment of an opposition press.
in October of that year and conducted by W. C.
had just returned to Sydney) and Dr. ‘Wardell.
s second opposition newspaper
Monitor, founded by Edward Smi
free settler during Mac
lishment of these two news
time in Australia became real
cireles, abuses and injustices were
were their attacks on GO
sought to cripple the two
of free speech. The cause 0
Darling and the press was W

E HEARD. The year 1824 was
al censorship and the estab-
The Australian was founded
Wentworth (who
In May, 1826,
was started in Sydney: The
th Hall, who had come out as a
With the estab-
papers, public opinion for the first
ly articulate. Corruption in official
now ventilated. So vehement
vernor Darling’s administration that he
papers and destroy once more the right
f the most important clash between
hat became known as the Sudds

quarie’s term of office.

3—THE SUDDS CASE.—The conditions of the soldiers of the

They saw some of the con-
had guarded become emancipists and rich—

the lash for soldiers rebel-

garrison were all but intolerable.
viets whom they

appointed magistrates who ordered

# Coghlan, p. 39.
#+ The first newspaper in Tasmania was The
“The Australian’

“The Monitor,” until 1842.

Derwent Star, which began
maintained its existence
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lious against a stupid and galling discipline. ‘Many soldiers, who
thitherto had had no stain upon their characters, began to
commit robbery in order to be dismissed from the army, serve
their sentence and then become free men—iree to return hom]f:
to England. Two such soldiers were J_oseph Sudds an_d Pat?;e
Thompsorn. They determined to CDmmlt: some petty crime. s
two would-be escapees stole a roll of calico from 2 George SU

trader. ] Vi
d without Governor Darling. He selecte
But they had reckone ot L

these two to fllInlSll EXaﬂlpleS to EIlCOUIagB

were 10t to get out O the a 1y Brou f tria }hey were
Irmy. gh. (8] 1

W1t11111 a foltﬁlght

entenced to seven years’ transportation!
s‘cufnthe trial, the inhuman Gove;r:})]r if;\;ed ;.Eeo;;lfgntk;z.; rx:a‘.:B:
a death sentence for one O e 5

:3 pbe served in chains on the public roads and,u?:irth; ge;r;:t ;th.
their term, the two soldiers were t_o return tq o paraded
on November 92, 1826, the two purloxqers of ca,hcdc; o
pefore their mates, publiely clothed 1n felonslmndS S, e
irons and «grummed out as rogues and’vagare thﬁs e
of irons, especially made for the occasion 2

made
by the «pustralian.”; «phe rings from the ankles Inglace e
after a peculiar fashion and are o_f un

commen Size.

y, they aré
der chains with another
connecte
1ing, which is put rou

thin pieces of ¢
the ring collar, 111 front under the ¢

; could not be on
hat the umfortunate menw ir collars
-+ packs or their bellies w1thout. twisting th‘:u t?i e

either thelr BACE, o "qia that, the CHaiil would be tWisted
und. And, 1 and the legs drawn up. Thompson ‘&= o
und the ody {: “The projecting irons would not &

scribed his predxcar?l"f;t- full length on mY pack. I could sleep

e mysef X 1d not stand upright
my legs. cou
mnt';‘st‘f: nbEsil }(])f the irons would not slip up ms’r.

lt.h‘m:h(;.n"ks were too short 10 allow me to stand upright.
e

i e hOt.
1egs, an worse. He was ill, the weather was V ry .

e n to swell
sudds f270 s flesh and his neck DeE® _
the jrons ?::ﬁ:;ey of course slept in their uo;xs—;—v;h:;e&;::a
the first = parling slept the sleep of the just,
sumab ’&Pvedr?t?:n that o fellow-prisoner said, “He’s not dead,
‘ﬂ"‘“ﬁ'um ive long.” His gaoler ordered him to hos=
pdant him he would be better out of the
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world. To which Sudds replied, “I wish to God I was.” His wisn
was soon granted. On Sunday, November 26, Darling, affer
returning from church, was informed that Sudds was dying.
To prevent the holding of an inquest, which would result in
unpleasantness to himself the Governor had ordered Sudds to
be transferred from the military hospital to the Public Hospital.
There he died on that Sunday night. He had obtained his release
from the 57th Regiment and Governor Darling’s inhuman
discipline. . . .

On Monday morning the storm broke. Darling, in the oppo-
sition press, was called a murderer, and Wentworth drew up an
impeachment of him and sent it to Government House. Shop-
keepers closed their shops in mourning for Sudds. The demand
was made that a public inquiry be held. That demand was SO
insistent that the inquiry had to be held. Then Darling pro-
duced a set of irons weighing 13 pounds as the irons worn by
Sudds. But a Captain Robinson was able and willing to knock
the bottom out of that story. It was then put forward that
Sudds had died of dropsy and bronchitis. But the surgeon stated
that no natural cause of death could be found. It was obvious
that Sudds had been cruelly done to death by Governor Darling
in the interests of an inhuman discipline.

The controversy lasted four years. It was, however, more than
a question of the death of one man or the maintenance of a
harsh discipline for many. It became a fight for the freedom
of the press. Darling sought to silence his critics,. He had his
subservient Council pass laws curtailing the liberty of the press.
One law made it illegal to publish a newspaper without a license
—_any license to be withdrawn at the Governor’s will. Another
placed a stamp duty of fourpence on every copy of a paper
published! It became, also, a fight between the emancipists and
the exclusive merinos. The latter supported the Governor to the
full, he* who had eighteen years before imagined himself a
Cromwell against a tyrant being to the fore! On the one hand
were the emancipists and the bulk of the people; on the other
the tory merinos and a tyrannical governor. The “Sydney

+ “The late John Macarthur, Esq, who was a member of the Legislative
Council during the government of General Darling,” says Dr. Lang (His-
tory of New South Wales, p. 223), “proposed as a regular quietus for the
colonial press, that a Stamp Act should be passed, subjecting every news-
paper to a duty of one shilling only! He told me the circumstances him-
self: but this was too much even for Governor Darling, Mr, Macarthur
had at one time been sufficiently liberal in his sentiments, as I have shown
above, to take s prominent part in overthrowing the alleged tyrannical
government of Admiral Bligh; but he was of that class of liberals, who
“Turk-like, can bear no brother near the throne’ "—(Dr. Lang's emphasis.)
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Gazette” was as sycophantic and sickly in its support of the
governor as the opposition was indignant and clgmnrous.* The
opposition had an ally in the Chief Justice, Francis .Forbes. ;
By the Act of 1823, the Chief Justice had to certify any Bill
passed by the Legislative Council as not repugnant to Engllsn
law before it could have legal force. He would not certify the
two Bills above mentioned and, in spite of the Governor’s storm-
ing and a long correspondence between them, refuseq to reverse
his decision. Darling was forced to withdraw the Bills. Tl?ere
is no doubt that Forbes was glad to be able to effec_t that with-
drawal. He had liberal and republican sympathies and ﬁas
no great admirer of the British monarchy. By John Macarthur

he was called “a dangerous man**

The third Bill passed by the Legislative Council was allov?rlid l;s;
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i The
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tain Robison had to suffer at the Governor’s hands for giving
testimony against him. Dr. Wardell fought a duel with Colonel
Dumaresqg, the Governor’s pbrother-in-law, and, because he de-
seribed the Governor as “ignorant and obstinate,” was sued for
libel. Every weapon was used. Hall was deprived of the ser-
vices of a convict-compositor and was refused permission to rent
unoccupied Crown lands. “Nay,” says Dr. Lang, “a remarkably
good-natured old gentleman, whose political opinion, on any
subject at all interesting to the fate of nations, no person of the
least discernment would have thought it of the slightest import-
ance to ascertain, actually shot himself, because he had incurred
the Governor’s displeasure through his acceptance, on some
oceasion or other, of Radical hospitality. In short, to compare
small things with great, the administration of General Darling
was the Reign of Terror in New South Wales."”*

4. EXCLUSIVE LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL.—The pooling of for-
tunes, interests and prospects by the pure merinos of New South
Wales, the capitalists of England and official circles is illustrated
by the personnel of the first three Legislative Councils. Of the
90 members thereof mentioned below, 10 were shareholders of
the Australian Agricultural Company! That company Wwas
allowed to share with British officialdom the political control
of New South Wales.

According to the Act of 1823, the Legislative Council was to
consist of official and non-official members.  But the first Coun-
cil—from August 5, 1824, till November 22, 1825—consisted of
official members only. They were Colonel William Stewart
(Lieutenant-Governor), Francis Forbes (Chief Justice), Frederick
Goulburn (Colonial Secretary), James Bowman (Principal Sur-
geon) and John Oxley (Surveyor General). The warrant appoint-
ing these would be revoked, explained Lord Bathurst to Governor
Brisbane, when he had received “the names of ten of the prin-
cipal merchants and landholders, whom you may consider eligible
to form the Council, from which His Majesty will select as many
as may be deemed proper.” This was done and the second
Council, which met in December, 1825, included three non-
official members: John Macarthur, Robert Campbell and Charles
Throsby. The Executive Council consisted of the official mem-
pers of the Council.

Members of the Legislative Council could not initiate legisla-
tion. Only the Governor could introduce measures and these
could not be rejected by the Council. The latter was therefore

+ History of New South Wales, p. 222 —Lang's emphasis,
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only an advisory body. In 1928 the number of members and
their powers were increased. By a majority vote they were now
able to reject a Bill submitted by the Governor and the Chief
Justice could no longer disallow an ordinance. All he could do
was to express his disapproval and the measure remained law
until disallowed by the British Parliament. The fifteen members
of this third Council were: Governor Darling, Chief Justice
Forbes, Archdeacon Scott, Alexander McLeay (Colonial Secre-
tary), Attorney-General Baxter, Michael cullen Cotton (Collec-
tor of Customs), Wm. Lithgow (Auditor-General), Lt.-Col.
Lindesay (Commander of the Forces), Robert Campbell, Alex-
ander Berry, Richard Jones, John Blaxland, Edward Charles
Close, John Thomas Campbell and John Macarthur.

In 1832 the N.S.W. «gansard” may be said to have begun,
when reports of the Council’s proceedings were given to the
press. The first sitting thus reported was that of January 19.
Six years later the first press gallery was opened and the public
was permitted to listen to the debates.

5—WAR ON THE BLACKS.—The Australian aborigines from

the very pbeginning of the occupation of tpis gountry were
treated as an inferior order of being. Extgrmmatmn_ was deli-
berately adopted as the easiest way to be ‘rld of a nuisance. lAs
the colony began to grow in the 'twenties the extermination

X tematic and relentless.
be;ar;n imirf, the testimony of the Rev. Mr. Threlkeld, for many
years 2 missionary amongs¥ the aborigines of New South Wales,
who knew them well and who is the author of one Ef the first
books upon their language. «p native,” he tells us,’ _was taken
by a party of whites and made to ascend a tree with a rope
around his neck: this he was directed to fasten to one of tl}e
i £ the tree. When he had done this he was fired at again
i in; he was wounded and clung to the tree, A volley
aoi ﬁred at him; he let go his hold, and was suspended
to others. Was it surprising when they were:' tor-
acts of cruelty if they became apt scholars? He
. «1 have peent informed that a petition has been presented
; mor containing a list of nineteen murders com-
v ‘blacks. I would, if it were necessary, make out a
£ 500 placks who had been slaughtered by the whites, and
¢ g short time. It was known to many tha._t a party
tmtl D‘ﬁmm - went in search of the blacks to the northward, and
ol 88 d them ripped up @ number of men and women,
havin® g out the brains of the chiidrenirs

cites the early warning of Mr. Hoddle, first surveyor
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of Melbourne who, in a small pamphlet he wrote, said: “As the
country becomes occupied by whites the race will become extinct,
unless better steps be adopted for their preservation.”®

Putting aside the actual fact that the whites were aggressors
by the very act of landing on this continent,* we are faced with
overwhelming proofs that the blacks were not the original aggres-
sors in the war that was waged on them. “If the settlers can
tell,” writes Bonwick,” “of stolen sheep and slaughtered shep-
herds, the natives can also rehearse a tale of seduction and
murder.” And he proceeds to quote” Mr. Protector Robinson,
who assures us “that ‘nine-tenths of the mischief charged to
the aborigines is the result of the white man’s interference
with native women.'” The very first murder by the Port
Phillip blacks, Bonwick tells us, was due to this course. Ruth-
less punitive expeditions, resulting in retaliatory mass murders,
were often organised against the blacks—innocent and guilty
alike and whether the black or white was the original aggressor.
A case is cited’* A Mr. Franks, formerly of Tasmania, and his
overseer were murdered in the Port Phillip district for some
unknown reason. A party was organised to go after the blacks
who presumably had committed the crime. The punitive expe-
dition caught up with the natives and, says an eye-witness:
“They let fly at them, killed a great many, and what was not
killed and wounded ran away, leaving all behind them; a dray
was loaded with what they had carried away, and their spears
and waddies and tomahawks.” Said the Launceston “Cornwall
Chronicle,” anent this incident: “The annihilation of the whole
body of Port Phillip natives, in our opinion, would afford an
insufficient revenge for the murder of such a man.”" So did
the civilised whites demonstrate their moral superiority to the
barbarian blacks.

To the aborigines—and surely, too, to us if we stop to think
—destroying or driving away the kangaroo—their source of live-
lihood—was not a whit different from stealing—or taking for
food—the “woolly kangaroo,” the sheep.

* Said Mr. Eyre, a former Lieutenant-Governor of New Zealand and
an authority on the aborigines: “Our being in their country at all is, so
far as their ideas of right and wrong are concerned, altogether an act
of intrusion and aggression.”-—Quoted by Bonwick, p. 74, who a so quotes
a despatch of Lord John Russell in 1839: “It is impossible that the Gov-
ernment should forget that the original aggression was our own; and that
we have never yet performed the sacred duty of making any systematic
or considerable attempt to impart to the former occupants of New South
Wales the blessings of Christianity, or the knowledge of the arts and advan-
tages of civilised life.” Says Bonwlck, writing eighty years ago: “We teach
them to handle the spade; but it is to dig their own graves,” and, in Vie-
toria, “the ancient lords of the soil will soon be laid beneath it.”

ERRATA

We have to apologise for the extensive list of errata and we thank
correspondents who pointed some Of them out. If we ‘hm{e“mmimr?;?;
we would welcome being acquainted with the fact., Obvious literal €

are not included in the list. . : &
e ine from bottom for Incredulity read credulity; p. ,
Parlt l" fI;r Eieqr‘le}aiim;a; p. 16, 4th line from bcttomi_for VIII read 'V‘ﬂd
;9?3 15115'1 line, for Galvana read Galvano; l}: 217, 21§b ;ﬁ:’rgd .il}:v:.rople;
e : i for the secon 3 P 3L
Alysri 1 45 b?tl:ml;,ne ’E%msfﬁtm’, p. 35, 10th line, p. 36, 13th line: for
O s b ta; ':HISL 18th line, for Tabar read Tobar or Tovar; p. 40,
Vera read SB-(;‘ aiée%heré for Duyphen read Duyfken; p. 42, st colu;g.};lﬁ
e llm b e1:»ottom insert a before Columbus; p. 43, 1st column, .
s oo f;gga“js,s res.c’i Hondius’s; p. 48, heading for Terra Austrs_,hs read
e fonrmnll Background; p. 93, ond line from bottom, for ships _1'ea.h
e - .6, 27th line, for Von read Van; p. 80, 36th line, for Viaming!
; p- 15,

read ylamingh.
part 2—P. 81, ;il..rtle 22, fo;
uese; :
forttlg;tc lilarm!ggmr;et ‘:gad Bouvet; p. 132, hnes_
Eguppiy"-. p. 165, line 15, on’l_it *. p. 155, omi
p. 165, after Contempt read . . i 2
; 71, 9th ine from bottom: insert comma after chains; p. ,

y line 24
Portuguese read Duteh; same page, »
106, 5th line, omit was; p. 107, ath }me from
: 5 and 14, for “Sirius” read
t second line from bottom;

adin 3'-1;5—(1}00% Off the Common, read Officers And Gentlemen.
hemg:; p. 255, 17th line: omit the first comma; P. 320, 3rd line from

pottom: for Wenl.won‘,h, read Macquarie,
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